
 

If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format, please call Tim Brown, Democratic Services Officer on 
01432 260239 or e-mail tbrown@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of the 
meeting. 

 

 

 
 
AGENDA 
 
Planning Committee 
 

 

Date: Wednesday 10 December 2014 

Time: 2.00 pm (or on the conclusion of the meeting of the 
Planning Committee to be held in the morning, if 
later.) 

Place: The Shire Hall, St Peter's Square Hereford HR1 2HX 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Tim Brown, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 01432 260239 
Email: tbrown@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 



 

 

Agenda for the Meeting of the Planning 
Committee 
Membership  
  
Chairman Councillor PGH Cutter 
Vice-Chairman Councillor PA Andrews 
   
 Councillor AJM Blackshaw  
 Councillor AN Bridges  
 Councillor EMK Chave  
 Councillor BA Durkin  
 Councillor PJ Edwards  
 Councillor DW Greenow  
 Councillor KS Guthrie  
 Councillor J Hardwick  
 Councillor JW Hope MBE  
 Councillor MAF Hubbard  
 Councillor JG Lester  
 Councillor RI Matthews  
 Councillor RL Mayo  
 Councillor PJ McCaull  
 Councillor FM Norman  
 Councillor J Norris  
 Councillor TL Widdows  
 Councillor DB Wilcox  
 

Non Voting    
 
 



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  10 DECEMBER 2014 
 

 

AGENDA  
 Pages 
PUBLICINFORMATIONFIREINFO OCT 14 
 

 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY) 
 

 

 To receive details of any Member nominated to attend the meeting in place of 
a Member of the Committee. 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on the 
Agenda. 
 
 

 

4.   P141408/F BARLEY CLOSE, WOODSEAVES ROAD, EARDISLEY, 
HEREFORDSHIRE 
 

7 - 42 

 Proposed residential development comprising 16 open market houses and 9 
affordable homes. 
 

 

5.   P141687/F MID SUMMER ORCHARD, (LAND AT OAKLEY COTTAGE), 
RIDGE HILL, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR2 8AG 
 

43 - 60 

 Change of use of land from agriculture to a one family traveller site, with 
stationing of one mobile home, one touring caravan, parking and turning 
area, re-designed access and septic tank. 
 

 

6.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

 

 Date of next site inspection – 20 January 2015 
 
Date of next meeting -21 January 2015 
 

 





The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the business 

to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to six 
years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to 
four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a report is 
given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer 
has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

• Access to a public register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors with 
details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, subject 
to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a 
nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy documents. 

 

Public Transport Links 
 
• The Shire Hall is a few minutes walking distance from both bus stations located in the 

town centre of Hereford. 

5



FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit and make your way to the Fire Assembly 
Point in the Shire Hall car park. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of the 
exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning to 
collect coats or other personal belongings. 

The Chairman or an attendee at the meeting must take the signing in 
sheet so it can be checked when everyone is at the assembly point. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

6



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

 

MEETING: PLANNING COMMITTEE 

DATE: 10 DECEMBER 2014 

TITLE OF 
REPORT: 

P141408/F - PROPOSED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
COMPRISING 16 OPEN MARKET HOUSES AND 9 
AFFORDABLE HOMES AT BARLEY CLOSE, WOODSEAVES 
ROAD, EARDISLEY, HEREFORDSHIRE,  
 
For: R S Preece & Son per Mr James Spreckley, Brinsop 
House, Brinsop, Hereford, Herefordshire HR4 7AS 
 

WEBSITE 
LINK: 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/development-control/planning-applications/details?id=141408&search=141408 

 

Reason Application Submitted to Committee – Contrary to Policy 

 
 
Date Received: 1 May 2014 Ward: Castle Grid Ref: 330950,249703 
Expiry Date: 21 August 2014 
Local Member: Councillor J W Hope MBE.  
 
1. Site Description and Proposal 
 
1.1 Planning permission is sought in ‘full’ for the erection of 25 dwellings, including 9 affordable 

units on land north of Woodseaves Road, Eardisley. The site forms part of an open field 
bounded to the east by the A4111 Road and the C1075 Woodeaves Road to the south on 
opposite side of which is residential development. To the west of the site is a detached dwelling, 
Green Gables, and its large curtilage.  
 

1.2 The site which covers an area of approx one hectare is located within easy reach of the central 
part of the village on land adjoining the recognised development boundary for Eardisley, a ‘main 
village’ in accordance with the Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan Inset map. The main 
built up environment of the village extends to the south, the northern edge of the village is 
mainly historic in nature and forms part of the Eardisley Conservation Area, within which the site 
is located. On the opposite side of the road alongside the site’s eastern boundary is  a grade II* 
listed dwelling, Upper House Farmhouse. There are other listed dwellings located within the 
surrounding vicinity and in particularly on the southern side, alongside Woodseaves Road, 
which is predominantly traditional ‘black and white’ character and this area represents a strong 
feature in relationship to the surrounding build environment.  
 

1.3 The site is bounded to the north by open countryside and a network of public rights of way, 
Further to the west along Woodeaves Road is a housing development known as Canonford 
Avenue comprising 22 dwellings. 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM 4

7



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

 
   

            The Proposal 
 
1.4 The development comprises a mixture of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom two storey dwellings.  The 1, 2 

and 3 bed units are terraced or semi-detached.  The larger units are detached, and these 
consist of three, 3 bedroom units and five, 4 bedroom units.   

 
1.5 Vehicular access is proposed through the construction of a single point of access direct from 

Woodeaves Road.  The estate road heads into the site with properties arranged on either side 
before making a long left hand turn towards the north-western portion of the site.  The affordable 
units are located on the southern side of the site.  There is also a pedestrian access point 
located to the north west of the site off the A4111 road connecting to the existing public 
footpath. The applicant has also offered a two metre strip of land alongside the adjacent A4111 
highway in order to enable footpath construction from the direction of Upper House Farm.  
 

1.6 Surface water drainage is taken from the site and conveyed to a SUDs pond on land to the east 
of the site laid out as an ‘ecological feature’ which will act as a feature and recreational space 
and buffer between development on site and the grade II* listed  Upper House Farmhouse 
located on opposite side of the adjacent A4111 highway.  Foul  water would be connected to the 
mains. 

 
1.7 The application site was subject to assessment under the Strategic Housing Land Availability 

Assessment and categorised as being achievable for housing development and having 
low/minor constraints.  The implications of the Council’s lack of housing land supply (HLS) are 
discussed below. 

 
1.8 The application is accompanied by a design and access statement, ecological appraisal, 

archaeology report, landscape report and visual impact assessment and landscaping scheme, 
transport statement, drainage and flood risk assessment and a draft heads of terms to form the 
basis for a Section 106 Agreement. (Copy attached to this report). The Council has maintained 
a dialogue with the developer and their planning consultants throughout, starting with pre-
application engagement prior to submission.  This has led to revisions to the layout and 
modifications to the house-type mix and detailed design.  During the application processing 
period an amended site layout plan was received as well as additional detail in relationship to 
public highway and transportation issues and drainage.  

  
2. Policies  
 
2.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): 
 

The following sections are of particular relevance: 
 

Introduction -  Achieving Sustainable Development 
Section 6 -  Delivering a Wide Choice of High Quality Homes 
Section 7 -  Requiring Good Design 
Section 8 -  Promoting Healthy Communities 
Section 11 -  Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment 
Section 12      -          Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment.  

 
2.2 Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 
 

S1   -  Sustainable Development 
S2   -  Development Requirements 
S3   -  Housing 
S7               -          Natural and Historic Heritage 

8



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

DR1               -          Design 
DR2                -          Land Use and Activity  
DR3   -  Movement 
DR4   -  Environment 
DR5   -  Planning Obligations 
DR7               -          Flood Risk  
H4   -  Main villages: Settlement Boundaries 
H7   -  Housing in the Countryside Outside Settlements 
H10  -  Rural Exception Housing 
H13  -  Sustainable Residential Design 
H15   -  Density 
H19   -  Open Space Requirements 
ARCH1           -          Archaeology Assessments and Field Evaluations.  
HBA4   -  Setting of Listed Buildings 
HBA6            -          New Development in Conservation Areas.  
T8  -  Road Hierarchy 
LA2   -  Landscape Character and Areas Least Resilient to Change 
LA3  -  Setting of Settlements 
LA5   -  Protection of Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 
LA6   -  Landscaping Schemes 
NC1  -  Biodiversity and Development 
NC6   -  Biodiversity Action Plan Priority Habitats and Species 
NC7   -  Compensation for Loss of Biodiversity 
CF2                 -           Foul Drainage  

 
2.3 Herefordshire Local Plan – Draft Core Strategy 
 

SS1   -  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
SS2   -  Delivering New Homes 
SS3   -  Releasing Land for Residential Development 
SS4   -  Movement and Transportation 
SS6               -          Environmental Quality and Local Distinctiveness 
SS7  -  Addressing Climate Change 
RA1   -  Rural Housing Strategy 
RA2   -  Herefordshire’s Villages 
H1   -  Affordable Housing – Thresholds and Targets 
H3   -  Ensuring an Appropriate Range and Mix of Housing 
OS1   -  Requirement for Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities 
OS2   -  Meeting Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 
MT1   -  Traffic Management, Highway Safety and Promoting Active Travel 
LD1   -  Landscape and Townscape 
LD2   -  Biodiversity and Geo-Diversity 
LD4                -          Historic Environment and Heritage Assets  
SD1   -  Sustainable Design and Energy Efficiency 
SD3   -  Sustainable Water Management and Water Resources 
ID1   -  Infrastructure Delivery 

 
2.4 Neighbourhood Planning 
 

Eardisley Parish Council has designated a Neighbourhood Area under the Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulations 2012. An emerging neighbourhood plan may be a material 
consideration once it has reached submission / local authority publication stage (Regulation 16). 
In the case of the Eardisley Parish, the Parish Council has prepared a Neighbourhood 
Development Plan for the area, and a neighbourhood area was designated on 10th April 2014. 
Work has commenced and the plan has reached draft plan (Regulation 14) stage. However, this 
is not at a sufficient stage to apply any material weight. There is no timescale for 

9



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

proposing/agreeing the content of the plan at this stage, but the plan must be in general 
conformity with the strategic content of the emerging Core Strategy. 

 
2.5   Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
   

• Planning Obligations Document 
 
  
2.6 The Unitary Development Plan policies together with any relevant supplementary planning 

documentation can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:- 
 
 http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/housing/planning/29815.aspp 
 
3. Planning History 
 
3.1 133016/F - Residential development comprising 16 open market houses and 9 

Affordable homes – Withdrawn 15th January 2014.  
 
4. Consultation Summary 
 
 Statutory Consultees 
 
4.1 Welsh Water:  No objection subject to the imposition of conditions with regards to foul and 

surface water discharges requiring the submission of a comprehensive scheme for the 
integrated drainage of foul, surface and land drainage run-off, with further stipulation that land 
drainage and surface water run-off are not permitted to connect either directly or indirectly to the 
public sewerage system.    

 
4.2  Environment Agency:  No objections are raised, the response indicating the flood risk 

assessment submitted in support of the application is acceptable as the area for the proposed 
development is located primarily within Flood Zone 1, which is classed as the lowest class of 
flood risk zone. Comment is made that paragraph 101 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework requires decision makes to steer new development to areas at the lowest probability 
of flooding by applying a sequential test and that development should not be allocated or 
permitted if there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development in 
areas with a lower probability of flooding. Whilst it is acknowledged that part of the proposed 
access route is in flood zone two, this is considered as non-major development. No objections 
are raised in relationship to foul drainage.  

 
4,3     English Heritage  recommend that the application should be determined in accordance with 

national and local policy guidance, and on the basis of your specialist conservation advice. 
  
            Internal Council Advice 
 
4.4 The Transportation Manager raises no objections in relationship to amended plans received 

having initially recommended refusal.  
 
In response to further information received in support of the application on transportation 
matters the Transportation Manager responded with no objections indicating the following 
comments:  

 
‘Further to the amended plans submitted by the applicant, a number of points have been 
addressed. The access onto the A4111 is not possible at the entrance to the development; this 
has been demonstrated by the applicant. As this is further out of the village, the speeds are 
higher requiring larger splays. The footpath/ PROW link has to be moved north to accommodate 
the visibility splays. 

10



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

 
The Junction of the A4111 and the C1075 visibility splays are acceptable as they comply with 
MfS2. Improvements are required as there is vegetation overgrowing onto highway land, this 
improvement will benefit all.  

 
There are a number of dropped crossings proposed providing accessibility for the able and less 
able, this is acceptable. 

 
The gradient of the access road has been demonstrated to being 1 in 20, this is acceptable 
though this will need to be conditioned. Cycle parking will need to be provided to all properties, 
this will need to be conditioned. The internal road layout is acceptable though the turning head 
is short, this will need to be addressed though could be achieved, this can be conditioned. All 
garages, if used for parking allocation must be 6m x 3m internal dimensions, this will need to be 
conditioned, PD rights must be removed to ensure parking levels remain for the development. 
Emergency Planning appears to be an issue, the pictures provided by the PC show flooding of 
the Woodseaves Road, if the planning authority believe this to be an issue, an option would be 
to raise the road level and improve drainage, this could be achieve under a S278 agreement 
though this would need careful design to ensure the problems aren’t pushed elsewhere. 

 
The changes in parking does give opportunities for on street visitor parking which is welcome. 

 
The spaces set aside for Woodseaves Road Residents will need to have a clear parking 
management strategy which will require conditioning. 

 
The footpath from the A4111 to Woodseaves Road will need a 2m wide footpath to conform to 
HC Design Guide Standards. 

 
S106 will be required to enable the footpath improvements on the A4111 and also to improve 
the A4111 through the village for pedestrians and traffic. Possible pedestrian crossing 
improvements. 

 
If you are minded to approve, please condition and add informatives as below: 
CAL, CAP, CAQ, CAS, CAZ, CB2, Management Plan for Residential Parking. 
Road layout as amendments to the turning head. 

 
4.5 Conservation Manager (Landscapes):  
 

Landscape:  
 

The site comprises approximately one hectare of agricultural grazing land, it has a gentle south 
westerly slope and is on raised land above both the A4111 and Woodseaves Road. The 
boundaries to the south are contained for the most part by roadways, except for a section in the 
south west corner where a cluster of listed buildings form part of the crossroads. To the east 
is Green Gables house and to the north the site extends into open countryside.  
 
• The Landscape Character of the Site is Principal Settled Farmlands; settled agricultural 

landscapes of dispersed scattered farms relic commons and small villages and hamlets. 
The LCA (2004) states: The dispersed settlement patterns of farmsteads and hamlets, is 
capable of accommodated limited new development if it is in accordance with UDP policy. 
Additional housing in hamlets and villages should be modest in size in order to preserve the 
character of the original settlement.  

 
• The particular location of this site serves to perform several important functions in relation 

to the settlement: It contains built form within the settlement preserving the historical linear 
pattern of development. It contributes to the rural setting of the village providing a direct link 

11



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

with the open countryside and significantly it provides the setting for a number of Listed 
Buildings.  

• A particular example of which is Upper House Farmhouse, where the house relates directly 
to the space it overlooks providing intervisibility with The Cruck House, April Cottages and 
the Forge located along Woodseaves Road.  

 
• Key landscape features within the site include; the ditch, bank and hedgerow, in addition to 

a large oak to the south west corner of the site. These are shown to be retained in the 
current proposals and form part of the frontage to the housing.  

 
• The proposed open space to the south east of the proposal provides a landscape buffer to 

the sensitive boundary along which a number of listed buildings are situated. As well as the 
reinstatement of a former PROW providing connectivity from Woodseaves Road to existing 
PROW.  

 
Visual and Public Amenity:  
 
• Residential properties located along Woodseaves Road and the A4111 will have clear views 

of the settlement. However the proposed landscape buffer to the east will filter these views 
as vegetation matures. The proposed layout fronting onto Woodseaves Road, along which 
the Herefordshire Trail passes, is considered to now better relate to the existing character of 
the village.  

 
• The PROW EE14 which runs across the north east corner of the site linking the settlement 

to a network of paths. Whilst views from this footpath are envisaged, the staggering of the 
proposed dwellings will reduce the visual impact. The proposals tree planting to the north of 
the proposal will help to better assimilate the proposals into the landscape, however it 
should be noted this planting is located outside of the site boundary.  

 
• The new entrance is proposed off an existing access, existing landscape features remain 

unaltered thus reducing the degree of impact. 
 
4.6  Conservation Manager (Ecology) recommends attachment of a condition with regards to a 

species and habitat enhancement scheme with regards to the mitigation measures and 
enhancement opportunities as highlighted in the ecological report submitted in support of the 
application being attached to any approval notice issued  as well as informative notes with 
regards to the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
4.7 Conservation Manager (Historic Buildings)  
 

‘The application site is located to the north end of the village of Eardisley which is part of the  
“Black and White Trail” in North Herefordshire.  The site is within the Eardisley Conservation 
Area and has a number of listed buildings adjacent to its north, east and south-east boundaries.  
These are largely grade II buildings but to the east of the site is the grade II* Upper House 
Farm. 

 
Development proposals for the application site require assessment against saved UDP heritage 
policies HBA4 (setting of listed buildings) and HBA6 (new development in conservation areas).  
Extensive pre-application discussions have been held for a number of schemes. 

 
The proposed development would provide a total of 25 dwellings accessed via a cul de sac off 
Woodseaves Road.  The drawings and reports presented do not assess the impact of the 
development on the surrounding listed buildings or the character of the conservation area, 
though archaeological evaluation has taken place on the site itself (and has been commented 
upon by archaeology colleagues).  Given the number of heritage assets affected by the 
proposal this seems a surprising omission. 

12



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

 
The drawings show typical cottage-style and traditional house types but because they are 
submitted as house-type drawings rather than street elevations there is a degree of imagination 
required to link the correct elevations together and then assess the impact on the surroundings.  
The “Draft Landscape Report” tries to alleviate the difficulty except that the materials stated on 
the drawings are not accurately reflected so again the impact is less than clear. 

 
From a village design perspective the use of a cul de sac is regrettable since it is not an 
inclusive form and does not reflect the historically linear nature of Eardisley.  However in an 
effort to encourage the development to front Woodseaves Road at least, the three rows of three 
cottages nearest the road are orientated to face south with their front doors and gardens.  The 
retention of the existing hedgerow and brook along Woodseaves Road will always give a 
degree of separation but will also act as a buffer between the lower historic properties and the 
higher new development. 

 
In terms of the setting of the surrounding listed buildings it is considered that the development 
should not have an adverse impact, albeit there will clearly be a change.  The Cruck House 
(grade II to the south) is part of the row of dwellings on Woodseaves Road and is located 
opposite an existing  entrance drive which would become Barley Close.  It is not considered that 
the setting of this building will be adversely affected by the development of the new housing 
proposed in this scheme. 

 
The listed buildings to the south-east of the development site form a tight knit cluster with a 
parking area to the rear and adjacent to the site.  The buildings face into the village and are 
currently backed by open fields.  This characteristic would be changed by the development as 
the open fields would be more remote from the listed buildings.  However the significance of 
these dwellings does not rely on their association with the surrounding countryside and 
therefore it is considered that the alteration in setting does not constitute harm. 

 
To the north-east of the site is a grade II listed barn conversion.  Whilst this building originally 
was directly linked to the surrounding field system in circulation and usage terms, these 
linkages have been severed by the conversion and land ownership changes.  The building is 
clearly now used as a dwelling and to have some of the open fields of the original setting lost to 
housing is not considered to be severely detrimental to its setting.  There will still be a significant 
proportion of the surrounding land which remains as open field so that the former barn will retain 
much of its agricultural setting. 

 
To the east of the site, across the main road, lies the Upper House Farm complex which 
contains grade II listed barns and the grade II* Upper House Farmhouse itself.  The complex 
has recently been developed for housing with the barns converted and new housing built to the 
north.  Currently these buildings have a western outlook of open fields and indeed they can be 
viewed from various footpaths to the west.  The complex is on the edge of the village and has a 
setting that incorporates both village and countryside.  To some extent this has already been 
reduced by the addition of the new housing to the north of the listed buildings but it is not 
considered that the application proposal would have a detrimental effect on the setting of the 
barns or farmhouse.  The setting will still be on the edge of the village and the complex will still 
be visible as a whole from vantage points across the open fields. 

 
It is therefore considered that the scheme will not be detrimental to the settings of the various 
listed buildings in the vicinity of the site, though it is acknowledged that there will be a change.  
The scheme is considered to comply with saved policy HBA4, setting of listed buildings. 

 
In considering the effect of the scheme on the conservation area of Eardisley it is clear that the 
particular topographical and ecological circumstances of the site impose various constraints.  
From Woodseaves Road the access road and land rise to the north onto the site and therefore 
any development could have a tendency to loom over the buildings on the lower ground to the 

13



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

south.  The retention of the hedgerow and the brook is welcome as this forms an important 
element of the character and appearance of this part of the conservation area.  Their presence 
results in the built development being located further into the site and therefore perspective 
plays a part in reducing the impact of the built form. 

 
As previously mentioned the scheme would be arranged on a cul de sac which is not a 
characteristic of the conservation area or the wider village.  However the housing proposed 
does relate reasonably well to Woodseaves Road and is of a scale that should allow its 
assimilation into the area.  It would be useful to have the submitted landscape 3D views redone 
with the correct walling materials as this would clarify the appearance of the scheme.  
Alternatively coloured street scene elevations should be submitted for clarification purposes – 
the colour of the render will need to be accurately assessed as the current proposal seems 
rather too dark. 

 
The impact on the conservation area, subject to the extra/revised information above being 
satisfactory, is considered to be acceptable in terms of the type of dwellings, their density and 
scale and their materials.  The scheme is therefore considered to comply with policy HBA6 
(subject to the above clarification). 

 
In terms of the design of the dwellings the main comment relates to the use of fake chimneys to 
most of the units.  This is not considered acceptable and does not reflect good design.  The 
chimneys must be usable. 

 
Conditions on any permission would need to include external materials, joinery details (windows 
etc must be timber not upvc, in perpetuity), cast metal rainwater goods, no close boarded 
fencing, no fake chimneys.’ 

 
4.8  The Drainage Manager has responded to the application indicating:  
 

We have no objections to the proposals in principle and the additional information provided 
provides greater clarity and certainty on the proposals. The Council may wish to note the 
following comments: 
 
• The cover letter, prepared by the Applicant’s flood risk / drainage consultant, makes several 

recommendations for how surface runoff at the site is to be managed. Our response 
assumes the Applicant intends to implement these recommendations in full.  

• There is limited detail provided to demonstrate how runoff, and in particular exceedance 
flows, from the southern part of the site will be directed towards the attenuation pond and 
avoid following the natural topography towards Woodseaves Road. The likelihood of 
exceedance is reduced as the drainage is to be designed for a 100 year (with climate 
change) event, and assuming there is flexibility in site levels we consider this could likely be 
achieved for the majority of the site however this is not yet confirmed and would need to be 
demonstrated in the detailed design. 

• It is stated that the Council will be asked to adopt the SUDS but there is no evidence of any 
consultation with the Council in this respect and it is unknown whether this has taken place. 
It is recommended that this is confirmed to ensure that appropriate arrangements for 
adoption and maintenance will be made. If necessary the Applicant should confirm what 
alternative arrangements would be made.  

 
If the council is minded to grant planning permission we recommend the following information is 
provided prior to commencement, secured through appropriate planning conditions. 

 
• Detailed drainage layout for the development and supporting calculations demonstrating the 

100 year (with climate change allowance) design standard is achieved; that surface water 
discharges from the site for a range of events up to the 100 year (climate change) do not 
exceed existing rates; and showing sufficient detail in terms of layout and levels to 

14



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

demonstrate how flows (including exceedance flows) are routed to the attenuation pond and 
then to the Folly Brook. 

• Details of the proposed measures to provide adequate separation and treatment of polluted 
water, in accordance with current guidance, and the measures to prevent blockage of the 
attenuation pond outlet. 

• Confirmation that agreements are in place for the adoption & maintenance of the site 
drainage systems. 

• A detailed site plan showing proposed floor levels and external levels, demonstrating floor 
levels are a minimum of 300mm above external ground levels. 

 
In addition we recommend that infiltration testing in accordance with BRE365 is required prior to 
construction to confirm that infiltration is not feasible as the sole means to manage surface 
water runoff. 
  
We also refer the Council to our comments made in our response of 18th September 2014 in 
respect of the Sequential Test and emergency response.  
 
The response dated 18th September 2014 indicates:  
 
The Environment Agency’s Flood Map for Planning (Figure 1) shows the site is mostly located 
in Flood Zone 1 (<0.1% annual probability of flooding from rivers) and that the access onto 
Woodseaves Road lies within Flood Zone 2 (1% - 0.1% annual probability of flooding). A FRA 
has been prepared for the development. A summary of the conclusions of the FRA is as follows: 
 
• Flood Zone – the site is located in Flood Zone 1, with Woodseaves Road and much of 

Eardisley in Flood Zone 2. 
• The Sequential Test does not apply to sites within Flood Zone 1. 
• The proposed development is “More vulnerable” to flooding, which according to the NPPF is 

appropriate in Flood Zone 1 and 2 without the need to apply the Exception Test. 
• Fluvial flood risk is low as the site is within Flood Zone 1 and situated 1.15m (according to 

LiDAR) above the Folly Brook on the southern boundary of the site.  
• Groundwater flood risk – deemed low as there are no issues reported in the SFRA.  
• Sewer flood risk – deemed low as no issues are reported in the SFRA.  
• Surface water flood risk – The FRA states that surface water flows will naturally avoid the 

site, flowing east and south along Woodseaves Road and Church Road. The FRA 
recommends a ditch is provided along the northern margin of the site.  

• Infrastructure failure – risk deemed low as no infrastructure identified. 
• Access & egress – The FRA states that Woodseaves Road is liable to fluvial flooding during 

a 1:1000 event and that alternative (pedestrian) access will be provided to Church Road. 
  

We make the following comments in respect of the FRA and flood risk to the development: 
 
• Sequential Test - As the main access to the development lies within Flood Zone 2 and is 

potentially at significant risk of flooding we recommend the planning authority should apply 
the Sequential Test to this development; 

• Whilst we agree that the site itself is at low risk of fluvial flooding the site access and 
Woodseaves Road is potentially at greater risk than indicated by the EA Flood Map. The 
Applicant should provide details of proposed finished floor levels to demonstrate these 
provide a suitable freeboard above the relevant modelled 100 year (climate change) flood 
level. The impact of climate change on fluvial flood levels has not been considered in the 
FRA however the topographic survey suggests this should be easily achieved. Flood level 
estimates may shortly be available from Herefordshire Council. Alternative an assumed 
300mm increase on the present day 100 year flood levels is deemed appropriate for this 
site. Depths of around 0.2m were reported on Woodseaves Road for the 2007 event 
deemed to be in the order of a 50 year return period.  Flood depths would also be expected 
to increase in the future due to climate change. 

15



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

• Surface Water Flood Risks - We note that the site is reasonably steeply sloping and 
susceptible to overland flows from the north-west and within the site. The ditch 
recommended in the FRA is not shown on the proposed layout. The proposals should also 
include appropriate mitigation within the site, such as raised floor levels and external levels 
set to direct flows away from existing and proposed properties and main access routes. 

• Access & egress - We note that Woodseaves Road is vulnerable to both fluvial & surface 
water flooding for much smaller events than the 1000 year. It may not therefore be 
considered safe. Due to the size of the development we recommend that HC emergency 
planners are consulted to confirm that the additional properties, potentially with no vehicular 
access during a flood, will not put an unacceptable strain on resources.    

 
Surface Water Drainage 
 
A drainage strategy has not been provided for the development.  
The FRA included an assessment of potential for soakaways to manage runoff from roofs and 
concluded that these are feasible and could be fitted beneath a garden or driveway. The FRA 
also recommends the use of swales to manage runoff from roads and paved areas and the use 
of permeable and porous materials for paths and parking areas. No information is provided in 
respect of sizes of swales or attenuation storage. 
  
Whilst we support  the suggestion in the FRA for soakaways, swales and permeable paving we 
make the following comments: 
 
• The soils at the site are described as loamy with impeded drainage. The infiltration rate 

assumed in the FRA (0.001 m/h, equivalent to 2.8 x 10-7 m/s) is lower than the generally 
recommended minimum of 1 x 10-6 m/s. This has led to excessive half drain down times 
(165 and 101 hours) compared with the BRE365 recommended limit of 24 hours. If 
soakaways are proposed the Applicant should demonstrate that the risks of exceedance, 
associated with multiple storms, can be appropriately mitigated. The Applicant should also 
demonstrate that sufficient space is available for storage of surface runoff should 
soakaways be unfeasible. 

• The FRA suggests that individual soakaways will be provided for each property. The 
Applicant must clarify arrangements for ownership and maintenance of the soakaways to 
ensure these remain functional for the lifetime of the development. If individual soakaways 
are proposed it is recommended that these are not located in the rear gardens of properties 
as this may cause difficulties with access for routine maintenance. There is also a risk that 
amendments to private soakaways will be made by homeowners who are not fully 
appreciative of their important function.  

 
A detailed drainage strategy will be required for the development to support the application 
demonstrating how surface water from the proposed development will be managed, including 
consideration of exceedance during events greater than the design standard and / or when the 
system does not operate as intended.  
 
In accordance with the draft National Standards for Sustainable Drainage and Policy DR4 of the 
Unitary Development Plan, the drainage strategy should incorporate the use of Sustainable 
Drainage (SUDS) where possible. The surface water drainage strategy should be designed to 
mimic the existing drainage of the site. Infiltration techniques should be used unless infiltration 
testing or a contamination assessment confirms these are not feasible.  We have identified that 
that the use of infiltration techniques may not suitable for this development and recommend that 
further information is provided by the Applicant as discussed above.  If infiltration is proven to 
not be suitable, we recommend a combined infiltration/attenuation approach with a restricted 
discharge to a watercourse (first preference) or public sewer (second preference).  
 
The strategy should demonstrate that runoff will not exceed pre-developed greenfield rates and 
ensure no unacceptable flood risk to the development or increased flood risk to people/property 

16



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

elsewhere up to the 1 in 100 year event, including an allowance for climate change. Areas 
designated for surface water storage should be located outside of the 100 year (with climate 
change) flood extent. The Folly Brook does not have capacity to accept additional flows from 
the site, therefore if this is proposed the strategy should demonstrate how the impacts in terms 
of peak runoff rate and runoff volume have been addressed. 
 
Reference should be made to Defra/EA document ‘Preliminary Rainfall Runoff Management for 
Developments’ (Revision E, January 2012) for guidance on calculating Greenfield runoff rates 
and volumes. Guidance for managing extreme events can be found within CIRIA C635: 
Designing for exceedance in urban drainage: Good practice.   
 
Details of any necessary maintenance of the proposed surface water drainage system should 
be provided by the Applicant along with who will be responsible for undertaking maintenance. It 
is noted that under Schedule 3 of the Flood & Water Management Act, once enacted, 
Herefordshire Council as lead local flood authority are responsible for adopting new SUDS 
systems that are approved by the Council and that serve more than one property. Further 
guidance should be available in 2015. 
  
The Applicant must consider treatment of surface water prior to discharge. Evidence of 
adequate separation and/or treatment of polluted water (including that from vehicular areas) 
should be provided to ensure no risk of pollution is introduced to groundwater or watercourses, 
both locally and downstream of the site.  
  
Foul Water Drainage 
 
The proposed layout plan shows a foul connection to Woodseaves Road. It is assumed the 
Applicant intends to connect to the public sewer and the response from DCWW suggests this 
will be feasible. The Applicant should confirm their proposal for disposal of foul drainage in their 
drainage strategy.  
 
Developer Contributions to Flood Alleviation  
 
Herefordshire Council are currently investigating a potential flood alleviation scheme for 
Eardisley which may reduce flooding to Woodseaves Road. Contributions may be sought from 
developers to help fund the proposed alleviation measures.  
 
Overall Comment 
 
We recommend that the council objects to the application on the grounds of insufficient 
information relating to drainage. A proposed drainage strategy should be provided to support 
the Application. The following information should be provided to support the application: 
 
• A detailed drainage strategy, with supporting calculations, showing the location and sizes of 

any soakaways or attenuation storage (demonstrating these are outside the 100 year 
(climate change) flood extent) and demonstrating how discharges from the site are 
restricted to greenfield rates for all events up to the 100 year (with climate change 
allowance). Greenfield rates should be calculated in accordance with current guidance.  The 
drainage strategy should demonstrate that exceedance of the drainage system has been 
adequately considered and that suitable mitigation is included to prevent an unacceptable 
risk of flooding to the development or existing properties; 

• Details of the proposals for adoption and maintenance of the surface water and foul water 
drainage systems; 

• Evidence of adequate separation and/or treatment of polluted water (including that from 
vehicular areas) should be provided to ensure no risk of pollution is introduced to 
groundwater or watercourses, both locally and downstream of the site.  

17



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

• Prior to construction, evidence of infiltration testing in accordance with BRE365 to confirm 
that infiltration is feasible (if proposed). Groundwater levels should also be obtained to 
confirm these will be a minimum of 1m below the invert (base) levels of any soakaways. 

 
In addition it is recommended that Herefordshire Council planners confirm the development 
meets the requirements of the Sequential Test and it is recommended that the Emergency 
Planning team is consulted to confirm that the additional properties will not lead to an 
unacceptable strain on resources in the event of a flood preventing vehicular access to the site.  

 
4.9       The Parks and Countryside Manager raises no objections indicating:  

 
‘It is noted that the draft heads of terms include an off site contribution toward improving existing 
play in Eardisley which is supported in meeting UDP policy requirements.  The contributions are 
for the market housing only and only include 3 and 4+ bed roomed properties.  It is assumed 
therefore that there are no 2 bed properties.  

 
It is noted that the draft heads of terms include an off site contribution towards outdoor sports 
contributions, it should also include indoor facilities: This is supported in meeting the SPD on 
Planning Obligations requirements but the contribution should be used in consultation with the 
local Parish Council and in accordance with any neighbourhood plan or local identified need. 
This could include indoor village hall “sports” facilities as there are very few outdoors sports 
facilities in Eardisely.  It may be that that there is no identified need.  

 
Landscape Area to provide recreational space with seating for the village: 

 
It is noted that there is an area of POS to be provided as part of the SUDS requirement.  With 
careful design to take account of health and safety of standing water, these areas can provide 
opportunities for both informal natural play and for wildlife.  However, consideration needs to be 
given to the adoption, future maintenance commuted sum requirements of this area.  

 
For example, with regard to suitable management and maintenance, arrangements will be 
required to support any provision of open space and associated infrastructure within the open 
space in line with the Council’s policies. This could be by adoption by Herefordshire Council 
with a 15 year commuted sum plus appropriate replacement costs; or  by the Parish Council or 
by a management company which is demonstrably adequately self-funded or will be funded 
through an acceptable on-going arrangement; or through local arrangements such as a Trust 
set up for the new community for example. There is a need to ensure good quality maintenance 
programmes are agreed and implemented and that the areas remain available for public use.’  

 
Total towards recreational and open space on site and toward existing sports facilities in 
connection to the local community equates to £37,580 (In accordance with detail as set out in 
the attached Heads of Terms).  
 
A further response in relationship to an amended site plan  due to drainage issues also raises 
no objections.  

 
4.10  The Public Rights of Way Manager raises no objection.  
 
4.11     The Housing Manager raises no objections indicating the tenure of 3 units for social rent and 6 

intermediate housing is supported.  
 
4.12 The Conservation Manager, (Archaeology), raises no objections indicating despite the 

seemingly sensitive location, the evidence now indicates that the site is actually of 
comparatively low potential archaeological interest and under the circumstances there are no 
further requirements or comments to make. 

 

18



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

4,13    The Schools Organisation and Capital Investment Manager raises no objections indicating that 
the sums as indicated in the draft heads of terms (attached to this report), is in accordance with 
requirements of  the Planning Obligations Document. The contribution for this development 
totals educational requirements equals £76,350. 

 
4.14  Waste & Recycling Manager raises no objections. Total in accordance with Planning 

Obligations as indicated on attached draft Heads of Terms equals £1920.  
 
 
5. Representations 
  
5.1 Eardisley Parish Council has responded to the application indicating:  
 
           ‘The issues raised by EGPC to the last submission have not been adequately addressed. The 

amended planning application still lacks detail and also contains inaccurate details.  
           The view of Eardisley Group Parish Council remains to recommend refusal.’ 
 
            Eardisley Parish Council’s response dated 16th September 2014 stated:   
 

‘The Highways Comments Response offers no improvement over the original submission. The 
proposal remains unacceptable.  
 
Access: this report states that, on a number of specific grounds, the A4111 is not suitable for 
access to the site, therefore Woodseaves Road "would be the most appropriate [access to the 
site] in terms of safety and convenience to residents". However, there is no evidence in this 
report that proves the suitability of the Woodseaves Road access. 
  
• The Junction of Woodseaves Road with the A4111 by the Tram Inn would be subject to far 

more vehicular use even though poor visibility to the north makes that junction just as much 
of a safety risk as a site access onto the A4111 further north would be.  

• The proposed two Woodseaves Road pedestrian crossings add complexity in the light of 
increased traffic on the Road. The report fails to acknowledge that the 'brick structure' at the 
proposed eastern crossing is the village pump house which, as part of Eardisley's heritage 
attracts tourists.  

• The proposed slope of the access road will be too long and difficult for site residents who are 
older, infirm or wheelchair users.  

• Parking is not improved by this amendment. The inadequate 5 spaces that are supposed to 
compensate Woodseaves Road residents and users will be even more difficult to access 
because of the cutting out of the slope up to the site. Nothing has been done to provide 
visitor parking on the site or significant numbers of practical spaces to replace parking on 
Woodseaves Road. Overall, parking in this part of the village would be significantly 
worsened by this proposal.  

• There is still no proposal to enable site residents to get into or out ofthe Barley Close site 
when Woodseaves Road floods. It is also still unclear whether large vehicles will be able to 
turn around on the site.  

• This report introduces an A4111 crossing which will serve Upper Court, which has no path to 
the village. It was noted that this path would require Upper Court residents to cross the 
A4111 at a point where cars are travelling at 45 mph and that it was this applicant who failed 
to provide a safe path to the village when he built Upper Court, despite being asked to do so 
by this PC at the time of that application, and subsequently.  

 
The Eardisley group Parish Council remains firmly of the view that this proposal is unacceptable 
for access and other reasons stated previously.’  
 
 
 

19



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

Eardisley Parish Council’s earlier initial undated response indicated:  
 
‘EARDISLEY GROUP PARISH COUNCIL CONTINUES TO OBJECT TO THE APPLICATION 
BECAUSE OF THE SEVERITY OF THE IMPACT THIS PROPOSAL WOULD HAVE ON THE 
VILLAGE. 
 
Parking 
 
• Traffic -Preventing residents' parking in Woodseaves Road. The Parish Council will not 

tolerate residents being seriously inconvenienced by the loss of their only available parking 
in the Road. Forcing Woodseaves Road residents to go elsew/here in the village to park. 
The 5 onsite spaces would seldom be available to residents. 

• Forcing visitors to Barley Close to park elsewhere. The 5 spaces are the only visitor parking 
on the site. Taking no account of disabled residents. 

• Preventing parking for tourists, and users of businesses and facilities. 
• Increasing the very real traffic congestion and dangers to pedestrians and cyclists in the 

main road in Eardisley. Making no realistic provision for a safe route to school. 
• Increasing the danger to motorists because of the 50-i- more vehicles using the Tram 

Junction several times per day. 
• Increasing danger to pedestrians crossing Woodseaves Road near the site access rather 

than walking in the wrong direction to use a new crossing further west in Woodseaves Road. 
Flood Risk 

• Siting the access to Barley Close in a road that is known for flash-flooding and referring in 
the application to an emergency access to the A4111 which passes through a pond. This 
means the Barley Close residents will be cut off in flood conditions. 
Conservation area 

• Taking no sympathetic account of housing density or design, and building materials to make 
an appropriate contribution to the character of a village in a rural conservation area where 
tourism is popular. 
 

Green or play space 
 
• Making no provision for a safe recreational space for children within the development, only 

an unprotected storm water storage pond. 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework 
 
• The document states that 'development should only be prevented or refused on transport 

grounds where the residual and cumulative impacts are severe.' The overwhelming view of 
residents at the meeting was that the impact of this development on transport in Eardisley 
would indeed be severe. 

• The NPPF also states that 'applicants will be expected to work closely with those directly 
affected by their proposals to evolve designs that take account of the views of the 
community'. No such consultation has taken place’. 

 
5.2      Eardisley Parochial Church Council has responded indicating:  
 

‘We have a concern that the current proposal regarding parking restrictions on the Woodseaves 
Road will have an adverse and therefore unacceptable effect on the Methodist Chapel, local 
businesses and particularly local residents, some of whom are elderly and/or profoundly 
disabled.’ 
 

5.3      The Campaign to Protect Rural England (Herefordshire Branch), has  commented: 
 

‘The field is outside the Village Settlement Boundary, It is within the Eardisley Conservation 
area and the proposed access is off a narrow road (Woodseaves Road) where the residents on 

20



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

the opposite side of the road are obliged to park their cars, thus making the already narrow road 
much more difficult to negotiate/overtake. 
 
Additionally there are historic flooding issues from the Folly Brook which is an open stream until 
it is culverted just before the proposed access to the site. 
 
The Eardisley Residents have been working on a comprehensive and well-researched 
Neighbourhood Plan and have public consultations to ascertain local views on the best areas to 
establish new homes. This draft Plan is in the last stages towards completion and It Is felt by 
many of those concerned that no decision on this Application should be made before the 
Neighbourhood Plan is accepted and becomes a material consideration In planning decisions. 
This agricultural field (presently used for grazing cattle) is not featured in this draft Plan and, 
judging by the representations on the Council's Planning website, is not favoured by several 
Residents as a suitable site for residential dwellings. 
 
Our specific planning concerns are: 
 
(1)  The suitability of the site, access and design proposals: the application site is described, 

In the Application Form, as 1 hectare in extent but several of the supporting documents 
say that it Is c. 2 hectares...this confusion should be corrected. The photo montages 
indicate houses which do not appear to fit Into the local scene at all and jar with the old, 
attractive houses on Woodseaves Road. 

 
Almost opposite the proposed entrance there Is the Grade 11 Cruck House (probably 
C14 although subsequently modified), and adjoining the north west boundary of the site 
there is a converted Barn, also Grade 11 listed. On the opposite side of the A4111 is 
sited the jettied upper-storey Upper House Farm, Grade 11* listed, probably dating from 
C15. 
 
The field surface is uneven and slopes considerably towards the north west and yet the 
proposed pond Is to be situated to the south west of the houses. Although there has 
been an Archaeological Survey (commissioned by the Developer) there could be 
historical or even archaeological features which have not been discovered; the archives 
at the Herefordshire Record Office could be accessed (even though It is closed to the 
public until Spring 2015) for further investigation. 
 
The proposed pond represents a considerable hazard for families with young children. 
The proposed entrance (off Woodseaves Road) will be difficult to access with the height 
of the field from the Road and it will be over the culverted stream. 
 

(2)  Transport problems (road width, lack of pavements for children walking to the Primary 
School, adjacent fast (and narrow) A4111 road): Woodseaves Road is narrow, and there 
are already considerable parking difficulties as the residents have to park in the road. 
The nearby popular public house, the 'Tram' causes additional parking problems and 
congestion for road users. The additional car spaces (2 for each proposed house) will 
exacerbate this situation. There are few pavements in the centre of Eardisley, making 
children's journeys to the Primary School hazardous. The heavy vehicles using the 
A4111, the main road through the centre of the Village, often obscuring visibility. The 
School is situated on the A4111. 

 
The Flood Risk Assessment document notes that, in times of flooding, the Woodseaves 
Road entrance/exit would not be safe to use and there should be an alternative exit onto 
the busy, narrow A4111 road .... this again would be hazardous; there appears to be no 
provision on the plans for access to this alternative exit. 
 

21



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

The narrow roads do not appear to permit cycle tracks although 25 cycle spaces are 
specified in the application. 
 

(3)  Traffic issues narrow High Street with HGVs causing congestion/hazards: 
 

Visibility when turning from Woodseaves Road into the A4111 is limited; the A4111 is 
narrow (particularly in the centre of the Village near Eardisley Bridge where it Is less 
than 16ft wide); recent traffic studies found that there are 4000 vehicle movements per 
day on the A4111 stretch through the Village, with 20% of these HGVs; vehicles 
frequently mount the pavements (where they exist) causing danger to pedestrians, 
especially children and mothers with pushchairs. A further 55 cars (specified in the 
proposal application) would make this situation worse. 
 

(4)  Potential flooding, with consequent danger to residents, new and existing: 
 

The proposed development, with surfaced driveways etc. will exacerbate field drainage 
problems and run-off (the land slopes down towards Woodseaves Road); long standing 
residents report 3 incidents of serious flooding within the past 14 years; the application 
form notes that there are no watercourses within 20 metres..but the Folly Brook runs 
adjacent to the southern boundary of the site. 
 

(5)  Adverse effects on scenic, old timber framed 'Black and White' houses and Listed 
Buildings in immediate and close vicinity: Eardisley, with several other Herefordshire 
towns/villages, is famous for the old and well maintained timber framed 'black and white' 
buildings. Seven Grade 11 Listed Buildings surround the site: these are detailed in the 
privately commissioned Archaeological Assessment accompanying the application. 

 
As Tourism is one of Herefordshire's most valuable economies surely the attractions of this 
Village should not be compromised by inappropriate developments. 
 
The protections contained in Herefordshire UDP Policies ARCH1, HBA6, HBA8, LA3 and S7 
could be contravened if this development is permitted. Section 12 of the NPPF describes the 
measures to be taken to 'conserve and enhance the historic environment' with paras. 131 to 
135 and 137 of particular relevance. Additionally the setting and area around listed buildings is 
required to be protected under Sections 66 and 77 of the 'Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 
In summary the proposed development appears to be inappropriate in this location. With all 
these concerns we trust that this Planning Application will not be permitted.’ 
 

5.4       55 letters of objection have been received from members of the public. Their key comments can 
be summarised as follows: 

 
• Concerns about the impact of the proposed development in relationship to surrounding 

public highways and current car parking arrangements for surrounding residents and 
businesses.  

• Potential flooding issues. 
• Detrimental impact on character of surrounding Conservation Area and setting of nearby 

listed buildings.  
• Development will encroach into the surrounding rural landscape.  
• Consideration should be given to the preferential development of brownfield sites rather 

than green field sites. 
• Neighbourhood planning and local opinion favours brownfield development before 

greenfield development.  
• Loss of amenity and privacy to surrounding dwellings during construction and as a result of 

the development.  

22



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

• Concerns about insufficient public consultation in respect of the proposed development.  
• Concerns about lack of sufficient play area/recreational space in relationship to the 

development on site.  
 

5.5      Five letters of support have been received. Comments made can be summarised as follows:  
 

•  Good mix of houses is proposed. 
• Location is considered acceptable when assessed against other sites surrounding the   

village.  
• Development is of a scale that will enable the village to grow and develop in a sustainable 

manner.  
    
5.6 The consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:- 
 http://news.herefordshire.gov.uk/housing/planning/searchplanningapplications.aspx 
 

Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:- 
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/complaints-and-compliments/contact-details/?q=contact%20centre&type=suggestedpage 

 
6. Officer’s Appraisal 
 
6.1 The application seeks planning permission for the erection of 25 dwellings on the southern 

section of a open field which is located on the northern fringe of the village immediately outside 
but alongside the recognised development boundary for Eardisley.  The site has been subject to 
the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and categorised as having 
low/minor constraints.   

 
           The key issues are considered to be:- 
 

• An assessment of the principle of development at this location in the context of ‘saved’ UDP 
policies, the NPPF and other material guidance; 

• An assessment of the sustainability of the scheme having regard to the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development; 

• An assessment of the scheme’s impact on the existing settlement in terms of privacy, 
character and amenity; 

• Impacts on highway safety. 
• Drainage and flooding matters. 
• Assessment on the impacts of the development in relationship to the historic environment.  

 
The Principle of Development in the context of ‘saved’ UDP policies the Framework and other       
material guidance 

 
6.2  S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states as follows: 
 

“If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.”   

 
6.3 In this instance the Development Plan for the area is the Herefordshire Unitary Development 

Plan 2007(UDP).  UDP policy S3 sets out provision for the erection of 800 dwellings per year 
between 2001 and 2007 and 600 per year thereafter.  The distribution for housing is split 
between Hereford and the market towns, main villages and the wider rural area.  The plan is 
time-expired, but relevant policies have been ‘saved’ pending the adoption of the Herefordshire 
Local Plan/Core Strategy.  UDP policies can only be attributed weight according to their 
consistency with the National Planning Policy Framework, (NPPF).  Essentially, the greater the 
degree of consistency, the greater the weight that can be attached.   

   

23



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

6.4      Eardisley is defined as a main village under saved UDP Policy H4.  This site falls outside but 
adjacent to the settlement boundary.  Development is thus contrary to ‘saved’ UDP policy H4 
and none of the exceptions under Policy H7 are met.  It is clear, therefore, that the proposal is 
contrary to the housing delivery policies of the UDP. 

 
6.5 The two-stage process set out at S38 (6) requires, for the purpose of any determination, 

assessment of material considerations.  In this instance the NPPF is the most significant 
material consideration.  Paragraph 215 recognises the primacy of the Development Plan but 
only where saved policies are consistent with the NPPF:- 

 
“In other cases and following this 12-month period, due weight should be given to relevant 
policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with this framework (the closer 
the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be 
given).” 

 
6.6 The effect of this paragraph is to effectively supersede the UDP with the NPPF where there is 

inconsistency in approach and objectives.  The NPPF approach to Housing Delivery is set out in 
Chapter 6 – Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes.  Paragraph 47 requires that local 
authorities allocate sufficient housing land to meet 5 years worth of their requirement with an 
additional 5% buffer.  Deliverable sites should also be identified for years 6-10 and 11-15.   

 
Paragraph 47 states: “Housing applications should be considered in the context of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing 
should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-
year supply of deliverable housing sites.” 

 
The effect of this paragraph is to supersede the UDP with the NPPF where there is 
inconsistency in approach and objectives.  As such, and in the light of the housing land supply 
deficit, the housing policies of the NPPF must take precedence and the presumption in favour of 
approval as set out at paragraph 14 is engaged if development can be shown to be sustainable.  

 
6.7 The Council’s published position is that it cannot demonstrate a five year supply of housing 

land. This has been reaffirmed by the recently published Housing Land Supply Interim Position 
Statement – May 2014. This, in conjunction with recent appeal decisions, confirms that the 
Council does not have a five year supply of deliverable housing land, is significantly short of 
being able to do so, and persistent under-delivery over the last 5 years renders the authority 
liable to inclusion in the 20% bracket. 

 
6.8 In this context, therefore, the proposed erection of 25 dwellings, which includes 35% as 

affordable housing on a deliverable and available SHLAA low/minor constraints site is a 
significant material consideration telling in favour of the development to which substantial weight 
should be attached. 

 
6.9 Taking all of the above into account, officers conclude that in the absence of a five-year housing 

land supply and advice set down in paragraphs 47 & 49 of the NPPF, the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development expressed at Paragraph 14 of the NPPF is applicable if it should be 
concluded that the development proposal is sustainable. As such, the principle of development 
cannot be rejected on the basis of its location outside the UDP settlement boundary. 

 
6.10 On this issue, officers conclude that in the light of the housing land supply issue and NPPF 

policies, the principle of development at this location outside but adjoining the UDP defined 
settlement boundary, is acceptable. 

             
 
 
 

24



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

 
Hereford Local Plan – Draft Core Strategy 2013-2031 

 
6.11 The Draft Local Plan is not sufficiently advanced for its policies to be attributed weight for the 

purposes of decision making and this has been borne out by the Home Farm decision.  It is the 
case, however, that Eardisley is identified as a settlement within policy RA1 where it is 
anticipated that proportionate growth will occur during the plan period to 2031.  This equates to 
approximately 29 dwellings.  It is clear, therefore, that Eardisley can expect to accommodate 
proportionate growth over the plan period and this is generally accepted.  It is the timing of and 
location of development that are in dispute; the Parish Council and a number of local residents 
stating that large-scale development of this nature is prejudicial to emerging neighbourhood 
plan proposals; although recent appeal decisions confirm that emerging neighbourhood plans 
cannot be given significant weight for the purposes of decision taking.   

 
6.12 On this basis officers conclude that in the absence of a five-year housing land supply the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development set out at Paragraph 14 of the NPPF should 
apply (if it should be concluded that the development is sustainable) and the principle of 
development cannot be rejected on the basis of its location outside the UDP settlement 
boundary.   

 
           The Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
 
6.13 In order to engage the presumption in favour of the approval of sustainable development, a 

proposal must first demonstrate that it is representative of sustainable development.  Although 
not expressly defined, the NPPF refers to the three dimensions of sustainable development as 
being the economic, environmental and social dimensions.  The NPPF thus establishes the 
need for the planning system to perform a number of roles including, inter alia, providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations and by creating 
a high quality built environment.   

 
6.14 The economic dimension encompasses the need to ensure that sufficient land is available in the 

right places at the right time in order to deliver sustainable economic growth.  This includes the 
supply of housing land.  The social dimension also refers to the need to ensure an appropriate 
supply of housing to meet present and future needs and this scheme contributes towards this 
requirement with a mix of open market and affordable units of various sizes.  Although not 
allocated for housing development; it being the intention in Herefordshire that neighbourhood 
plans fulfil this function, the site has been assessed via the Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment as having low/minor constraints and being capable of delivery within the first five 
years of the plan period.  The current application is testimony to this.  In the context of 
persistent under-delivery, including some large-scale UDP allocated housing sites on which 
development is still yet to commence; officers consider the immediate deliverability of this site to 
be a material consideration.   

 
6.15 Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for decision making, the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development means: 
 

• Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay; and 
• Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 

permission unless: 
 

Any adverse impact of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or Specific policies in 
this Framework indicate development should be restricted. 

 
6.16 The requirement to ensure the supply of housing is boosted is further reinforced at paragraph 

47 and paragraph 49 confirms that housing policies within the adopted development plan 

25



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

cannot be considered up to date in the absence of a five-year supply of deliverable housing 
sites. 

     
6.17 NPPF paragraph 56 confirms that the Government attaches great importance to the design of 

the built environment, confirming that “good design is a key aspect of sustainable development” 
and “indivisible from good planning.”  Good design should contribute positively to making places 
better for people.  The NPPF recognises it is important to plan positively for the achievement of 
high quality and inclusive design for all development, including individual buildings, public and 
private spaces and wider area development schemes.   

 
6.18 Within this overarching approach it is recognised that design policies should avoid unnecessary 

prescription or detail and should concentrate on guiding the overall scale, density, massing, 
height, landscape, layout, materials and access of new development in relation to neighbouring 
buildings and the local area more generally.  Paragraph 60 states as follows:- 

 
“Planning policies and decisions should not attempt to impose architectural styles or particular 
tastes and they should not stifle innovation, originality or initiative through unsubstantiated 
requirements to conform to certain development forms or styles. It is, however, proper to seek 
to promote or reinforce local distinctiveness.”  

 
6.19 ‘Saved’ UDP Policy DR1 (1) echoes the general aims and objectives of this approach, avoiding 

prescription, but advocating design that where relevant seeks to “promote or reinforce the 
distinctive character and appearance of the locality in terms of a range of issues including 
layout, density, scale, height and design.  The appearance of individual buildings is not 
mentioned specifically and this is considered consistent with the NPPF guidance that policies 
should guide in relation to scale et al rather than prescribe an architectural approach.  DR1 (3) 
also requires, where relevant that development should “respect the context of the site, taking 
into account townscape and landscape character and topography, including the impact of the 
proposal on urban vistas, longer distance views and ridgelines.”   

 
 Accessibility to Goods, Services and Employment 
 
6.20 As regards the sustainability of the site in locational terms, a number of representations refer to 

the lack of access to necessary goods, services and employment opportunities.  It is argued 
that the bus service, although relatively good by comparison with other rural services, is not a 
genuine alternative to the private motor car.  Comment has been made that Eardisley does not 
have many employment opportunities within the parish and that Eardisley should be allowed to 
grow at a consistent rate throughout the Core Strategy plan period in accordance with advice as 
set out in the emerging neighbourhood plan. 

 
6.21 Whilst taking this into account, it is relevant that Eardisley has been identified as a main village 

in the UDP and it is intended that this remain the case in the Draft Local Plan – Core Strategy.  
Emerging policies anticipate that rural settlements such as Eardisley will accommodate 
proportionate growth over the plan period; it is the means by which the need is met that is an 
issue.  However, given that Eardisley is identified as a main village in the existing and emerging 
Development Plans, officers do not consider it can be argued simultaneously that such villages 
are unsustainable locations for proportionate housing growth.  On this point officers are mindful 
of the Inspector’s conclusion in relation to the recent appeal at Whitehouse Drive, Kingstone, 
where the sustainability of the settlement was also at issue. The Inspector identified Kingstone’s 
inclusion as a main village in the UDP and the proposed inclusion as a RA1 settlement in the 
emerging Core Strategy – as is the case with Eardisley.  Whilst noting that Kingstone did not 
contain all of the facilities necessary for day-to-day existence he held the view that it did support 
sufficient facilities to warrant its status as a sustainable location for future housing growth.  
Officers consider that this conclusion is equally applicable to Eardisley. To conclude that 
Eardisley is not a sustainable location for housing delivery would seriously undermine the 

26



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

evidence base supporting the Core Strategy; specifically the housing delivery policies and is 
not, in the opinion of your officers, arguable.   

 
 
           Design, Layout and Architecture 
 
6.22 It is acknowledged that good design is indivisible from sustainable development.  Neither local 

nor national policy seeks to impose a straitjacket on designers.  Good, innovative design is 
actively encouraged, particularly where it has the ability to promote or reinforce local 
distinctiveness.  The local planning authority acknowledges the challenge that creating a sense 
of place can pose designers; particularly on mid-size schemes on discrete parcels of land at the 
edge of a rural settlement such as Eardisley. The Council acknowledges the benefits to be 
derived from the provision of a good housing mix, but also that on schemes of 25 dwellings this 
in itself can present challenges in terms of giving a scheme qualities that ground it within the 
local context but also a unity within the scheme itself.  In this instance the mix is such that it is 
considered appropriate to the local character and context. Incorporating a divergence of house-
types is illustrative of the difficulty inherent in unifying manifestly different ‘products’ and thereby 
creating a ‘sense of place’.  It is the case, however, that traditional villages that have grown 
organically and less rapidly over time do have just such a mix – the large manor house and 
farmhouse, the small and medium sized cottages, the bakery and the smithy etc.   

 
6.23 Officers agree that the submitted Design and Access Statement is accurate insofar as its 

assessment of the existing built form is concerned and believe it reasonable to describe 
Eardisley as comprising period properties, typically timber-framed ‘black and white’ along the 
adjacent highways  with mid/late C20th expansion further to the east and south  of the village 
core, in more of a cul-de-sac form. Thus the prevailing character can be hard to identify and 
there is no strong overall prevailing architectural character. Eardisley is not without numerous 
examples of traditional Herefordshire vernacular, it is just that in terms of volume these 
examples are becoming outnumbered by the more modern development which now serves as a 
backcloth to the period properties lining the A4111 and Woodseaves Roads.    

 
6.24 From vantage points to the north Eardisley is defined mainly by its historic nature.  There is a 

hard edge to the settlement when viewed from public vantage points to the north, other than a 
more recent development on the northern edge of the former farmstead known as Upper House 
Farm, where there is a small development of detached two-storey dwellings. Most of the historic 
development is inward looking. Whilst it is not uncommon for traditional ribbon development to 
present flank or rear elevations to open countryside, this is often in a different context to that 
proposed here, where two storey dwellings will stand in close proximity to each other and the 
boundary with open countryside.   

 
6.25 The geometry of the application site is such that it is hard to conceive a response other than in 

the manner of  a ’small estate’ road, with dwellings fronting on either side.  It is unfortunate, but 
a consequence of circumstance, that inter-connection cannot be made to existing immediate 
developments. However the site will integrate and is considered to be easily accessible on foot 
to the core of the village and the community facilities associated with the village community.  

 
6.26 Revisions to the layout and housing mix and appearance have been undertaken in response to 

officer concerns in relationship to a previous application for development on site, which was 
later withdrawn.  Principally the entrance to the site has been reviewed, with significant overhaul 
to the design and layout in order that development on site is better integrated into the 
surrounding built environment. The applicants having responded to concerns in relationship to 
the design and scale of the original proposal, the current layout and design is considered more 
reflective of the surrounding built environment.  The palette of materials has also been 
reviewed, with some principal elevations throughout the scheme faced in painted render.  This 
alleviates the regimented uniformity associated with the use of brick throughout and is 
considered more appropriate in the village scenario, where there is often a diverse range of 

27



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

architecture and consequently building materials.  Chimneys are also incorporated as a 
reflection of local vernacular.   

 
6.27 Given the overall mix of architectural styles and periods present in Eardisley, it is difficult to 

reconcile policies that require the reinforcement or promotion of local distinctiveness with 
proposals for modern housing development, particularly where local distinctiveness has been 
blurred over time by comparatively large-scale C20th expansion; as is the overall case in this 
settlement.   

 
6.28 In conclusion, whilst officers accept that there is more than one potential approach to 

architecture on the site, it is considered that the proposed development is one that overall will 
integrate into the surrounding built environment in an acceptable manner with consideration to 
the surrounding Conservation Area and setting of the various listed buildings.  It is considered 
the development will not have  a detrimental impact on the overall setting of these listed 
buildings, (which includes the nearby Upper House Farmhouse grade II* listed building), In this 
context the use of standard house-types is not considered inherently unsustainable as a design 
approach but is broadly consistent with overall organic growth of the settlement concerned.  

 
            Impacts in Relationship to Highway Matters  
 
6.29 A substantial number of representations have raised highway safety as a significant area for 

concern.  It is highlighted that the proposed access into the site is off Woodseaves Road which 
is considered a sub-standard road in order to accommodate the increase in traffic as a result of 
the development which will entail use of what is considered a substandard junction onto the 
adjoining A4111 road.  The Parish Council in a response indicating recent traffic studies found 
that there are 4000 vehicle movements per day on the A4111 road stretch through the Village, 
with 20% of these HGVs; vehicles frequently mount the pavements (where they exist) causing 
danger to pedestrians, especially children and mothers with pushchairs. A further 55 cars 
(specified in the proposal application) would make this situation worse. 

 
6.30 Objectors have also identified deficiencies with regards to parking facilities in the Woodseaves 

Road area and vehicle speeds along this stretch of highway. Suggestions have been made that 
access into the site would be better directly off the A4111 road.  

 
6.31 Saved UDP policy DR3 requires, where relevant, that development should provide a safe, 

convenient and attractive pattern of movement into, out of and across development sites, 
particularly for pedestrians, people with disabilities and the elderly.  The NPPF has concise 
guidance at paragraph 32.  It concludes that development should only be refused on transport 
grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe.  In this instance the 
development would be served by an access onto the C1075 Woodeaves Road  and this meets 
the Council’s Highways Design Guide.  Visibility is acceptable across the frontage.  Whilst the 
lack of a continuous footway alongside Woodseaves Road on its side adjoining the application 
site is noted, it is not considered that this pre-existing situation should be used as a basis for 
refusal of the scheme with consideration to the amount of dwellings proposed and furthermore 
the developer has given an undertaking that S106 contributions could reasonably be used 
towards the potential for delivery of traffic calming and/or pavement improvements.  The plans 
submitted in support of the application also propose a small designated car parking area on the 
entrance to the site which is not located adjoining any proposed houses on site. This parking 
facility is offered with consideration to local concerns about parking provision along 
Woodseaves Road and in particular when using local community facilities. This car parking area 
would form part of the site’s management company with that of the landscaping/recreational 
space.  Taken as a whole, it is not considered that the scheme would result in the significant 
residual cumulative impacts necessary to justify a refusal on highway grounds.  Overall it is 
considered that with appropriate conditions attached to any approval notice issued as 
recommended by the Transportation Manager in his response to the application, on highway 

28



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

matters the application is acceptable.  The land offered for a footway can be secured via the 
Section 106 agreement in relationship to the development.  

 
 

Drainage and Flooding  Matters 
 
6.32 The site is located primarily in Flood Zone 1 which is considered low risk zone in accordance 

with the Environment Agency Flood Risk Maps. The proposed access into the site and a small 
section of the southern portion is located within Flood Zone 2 which is considered medium risk  
zone. The response from the Environment Agency indicates that the Flood Risk Assessment 
submitted in support of the application offers an alternative pedestrian access route onto Church 
Road and that there is no flood risk associated with this access and therefore no concerns are 
raised about this alternative route in the event of a flood emergency. As a consequence there 
are no objections from the Environment Agency, Welsh Water or the Council’s Drainage 
Consultant on the issues of flood risk, pollution control, water supply or foul drainage 
conveyance.  Welsh Water does recommend a Grampian-style condition to ensure that a fully 
integrated drainage scheme is designed prior to the commencement of development. 

 
6.33 The Land Drainage Manager in the response dated 18th September 2014 refers to the 

requirement for consideration to a sequential test in relationship to the main access to the 
development which lies within Flood Zone 2 and as a consequence potentially at significant risk 
of flooding, whilst acknowledging that the site itself is in flood zone 1 and therefore the site itself 
is at low risk of fluvial flooding and does not require consideration to a sequential test. The 
village of Eardisley is located mainly within a high risk flood area, the applicants have 
demonstrated that the drainage of the site can be achieved without further exacerbation to 
drainage issues and indicated an adequate means of escape in the event of a flood in a 
northerly direction from the site, and it is noted that the EA have indicated that whilst part of the 
proposed access route is in flood zone two, this is considered as non-major development. 
 

6.34 The Land Drainage Manager in response to further clarification on drainage matters has 
concluded that the development is acceptable in relationship to drainage matters and it is 
recommended that conditions as recommended by the Land Drainage Manager, are attached to 
any approval notice issued and this includes reference to finished floor levels of development on 
site. On matters in relationship to access and comments as made by the Transportation 
Manager in respect of raising the road level in order to help in relationship to  drainage matters, 
this suggestion  is not considered necessary, based on advice as given by the relevant 
consultees on flooding and drainage matters, with appropriate conditions attached to any 
approval notice issued.  The applicant’s agent has confirmed his client's willingness to accept 
the recommendations of the Land Drainage Manager with regard to the suggested planning 
conditions requiring submission of further detailed information relating to SUDS and infiltration 
testing to BRE365 prior to commencement of development. 

 
           Assessment on the Impacts of the Development in Relationship to the Historic Environment  
 
6.35 The Council is under a statutory duty to consider the impact of the proposal upon the adjoining 

heritage assets.  (Grade II* Upper House Farmhouse and other grade two listed buildings in the 
locality). The Farmhouse lies to the east of the application site on the opposite side of the 
adjoining A4111 road and will be screened from the site by the proposed storm water pond 
which is designed to also act as a landscaped area in order to provide recreational space and to 
act as a barrier between the site and the grade II* listed dwelling. There are also other listed 
dwellings alongside Woodseaves Road.  

 
6.36 The Conservation Manager, (Historic Buildings), has responded to the application indicating 

overall the proposed development complies with Policies HBA4: Setting of listed buildings and 
HBA6: New development within Conservation Areas, subject to clarification about external 
render colour and usable chimney stacks.  

29



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

 
6.37   External render colour detail can be subject to a condition attached to any approval notice 

issued. With regards to chimney stacks, it is noted that the proposed elevation plans submitted 
for planning consideration indicate many dwellings with chimney stacks and all with chimney 
pots. Whilst it is acknowledged that the site is located alongside an historic part of the village 
where existing dwellings have chimney stacks, it is considered that the proposed elevation 
plans are acceptable in this aspect with regards to architectural and built environment character 
and whilst visual impact is a material planning consideration, it would be unreasonable to insist 
that every dwelling has a usable chimney stack. Therefore on matters in relationship to the 
historic environment, issues as raised by objectors to the application, (in particular the response 
from Herefordshire branch of CPRE), are not considered sufficient in order to warrant refusal to 
the application, the development considered to be in accordance with Policies DR1, HBA4, 
HBA6 and other relevant UDP policies on this matter as well as the NPPF.  

 
            Other Matters 
 
            Development should be considered on Brown Field Sites before that of  a Green Field Site 
 
6.38    It is acknowledged that the site is a ‘greenfield’ site which is identified in the Strategic Housing 

Land Availability Assessment and categorised as being achievable and appropriate  for housing 
development with low/minor constraints.  Whilst it is acknowledged that other sites may be 
feasible for development, none to date have come forward for consideration for housing 
development.  

 
6.39   Paragraph 102 of the NPPF advises consideration to a sequential test in relationship to 

development to be focused on sites with a lower probability of flooding. The site is located in 
flood zone 1, (lower risk flood zone), with its proposed access and a small proportion of its 
southern fringe in flood zone two. (medium risk zone). The applicants have demonstrated that 
there is an adequate means of pedestrian escape route in the event of flooding and as such the 
Environment Agency raises no objections on this matter. With regard to other sites in and 
around the settlement boundary, (in accordance with the UDP),  it is acknowledged that many 
are located within a recognised area liable to flood.                                                                                                                      

 
            Benefits Arising From the Proposal 
 
6.40 S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act necessitates review of other material 

considerations alongside the provisions of the Development Plan in exercising the ‘planning 
balance’.  The main material consideration in the context is the National Planning Policy 
Framework, which supersedes the housing supply policies of the UDP.  As such the 
acknowledged shortfall in deliverable housing sites represents a consideration of significant 
weight in favour of the scheme.  The scheme would also boost the supply of housing and go 
some way to addressing the current need for affordable housing within the parish.  In terms of 
the economic dimension of sustainable development, the development would introduce benefits 
in terms of the New Homes Bonus, as well as investment in jobs and construction in the area.   

 
6.41 S106 contributions of £196076 have been confirmed. It is agreed that contributions towards 

education infrastructure, open space and sustainable transport strategies are compliant with the 
CIL regulations (122(2)).  In this respect the scheme complies with ‘saved’ UDP policy DR5, the 
Planning Obligations SPD and the Framework.   

 
 Overlooking 
 
6.42 Objectors have referred to loss of amenity.  Having enjoyed an aspect over open countryside 

this is understandable.  Loss of outlook is not, however, a material planning consideration.   
 

30



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

6.43 Loss of amenity arising from direct and prejudicial overlooking is a material consideration.  In 
this case, the relationships in terms of window-to-window distance are not considered to warrant 
a refusal based on loss of amenity.   

 
Concerns About Lack of sufficient Play Area/Recreational Space in relationship to the 
Development on Site 

 
6.44  Concerns have been raised in responses from members of the public and Eardisley Parish 

Council that there is insufficient play area/recreational  space provided on site and that what is 
proposed is in relationship to an unprotected storm water storage  pond.  

 
6.45  The site plan in support of the application indicates a pond as a strong feature to the site, which 

will also act as part of a SUD’s drainage strategy and this is to be landscaped with naturalistic 
planting and recreational space. The pond is located to the east of the site and will also act as a 
buffer between the development and the nearby Grade II* listed dwelling. 

 
6.46  The Parks and Countryside Manager raises no objections to this proposal, indicating these 

areas can provide opportunities for both informal natural play and wildlife. The Conservation 
Manager, (Landscape), raises no objections indicating that landscaping as proposed will filter 
views into and out of the site as vegetation matures. 

 
6.47  It is considered that the application does provide adequate and suitable open and recreational 

space and that with appropriate conditions attached to any approval notice and with 
consideration to detail as set out in the draft heads of terms attached to this report, that the 
recreational/open space and drainage pond can be designed and managed in a suitable 
manner that will be of benefit for all.  

 
6.48 It is also noted that on ecological issues the Council’s Planning Ecologist concurs with the 

findings of the submitted appraisal and it is considered that the proposal will have no worse than 
a neutral impact on ecological interests.  The development is considered to accord with the 
provisions of the Development Plan and NPPF guidance in this regard with a condition attached 
to any approval notice in order to ensure that the ecological recommendations are followed as 
indicated in the ecological report submitted in support of the application.  

 
            Community Engagement 
 
6.49 Concerns have also been raised about insufficient public consultation with regards to the 

proposal. It is understood that the developer undertook to carry out pre-application consultation 
events, including one-to-one stakeholder meetings and an open exhibitions.  The Design and 
Access Statement makes reference to the Parish Council being first consulted on this proposal 
in July 2013 when a presentation was made and a full discussion entered into regarding the 
merits of the proposed location and the details of the proposed development. The Design and 
Access Statement further states that the Parish Council subsequently held an open meeting 
with the village to consider the proposal. The site has also been included in the Neighbourhood 
Plan Steering Group public exhibitions held on 19 February, 27 February and 8 March 2014 and 
details of the amended proposals to the development of this site were discussed with the 
Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group on 8 April, and a Planning Exhibition was held on 16 April 
with full details of the proposed development, site layouts and specific house types. 

 
           The Proposal is Premature and Contrary to Localism in the Guise of the Neighbourhood Plan 
 
6.50 Eardisley Parish Council has designated a neighbourhood plan area, and although one of the 

most advanced, the plan itself is not presently sufficiently far enough advanced to be attributed 
any weight for the purposes of decision-taking.  Whilst acknowledging that schemes such as 
this appear contrary to the intended aims of localism, the Council cannot reject schemes purely 
because they are potentially prejudicial to the neighbourhood plan; particularly where the plan is 

31



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

in the early stages of preparation.  In the same way that the Council cannot rely on emerging 
Core Strategy policies, emerging neighbourhood plan proposals cannot be attributed weight.    

 
7. Conclusion 
 
7.1 In accordance with S38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the application 

should be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.   

 
7.2 In the weighing of material considerations regard must be had to the provisions of the NPPF; 

especially in the context of a shortage of deliverable housing sites.  It is acknowledged that the 
development places reliance upon the presumption in favour of sustainable development as set 
out at paragraph 14 of the NPPF in the context of a housing land supply deficit, but equally that 
the emerging policies of the Core Strategy and Neighbourhood Plan are not sufficiently 
advanced to attract weight in the decision-making process.   

 
7.3 The contribution that the development would make in terms of jobs and associated activity in 

the construction sector and supporting businesses should also be acknowledged.  The raft of 
S106 contributions are also noted. The ability of an increased population to underpin local 
services is also recognised. 

 
7.4 Officers consider that in the context of existing development within Eardisley, the design of the 

proposal in terms of its layout and architecture is acceptable. Therefore on issues in relationship 
to the surrounding historic built environment and landscape on balance the development is 
considered acceptable. It is acknowledged that many issues of concern have been raised on 
transportation/public highway access and drainage issues, however these issues are 
considered to be addressed satisfactorily with appropriate conditions attached to any approval 
notice issued as indicated by the respective external and internal consultees on these matters.   

 
 7.5      When considering the three indivisible dimensions of sustainable development as set out in the 

NPPF, officers consider that the scheme when considered as a whole is representative of 
sustainable development and that the presumption in favour of approval is engaged.   

 
  7.6  Any adverse impacts associated with granting planning permission are not considered to 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits and it is recommended that planning 
permission be granted subject to the completion of a legal undertaking under Section 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and planning conditions as referred to below.  

 
            RECOMMENDATION 
 

That subject  to the completion of a Section 106 Town & Country Planning Act 1990 
obligation agreement in accordance with the Heads of Terms stated in the report, officers 
named in the Scheme of Delegation to Officers are authorised to grant full planning 
permission, subject to the conditions below and any other further conditions considered 
necessary. 

 
1. A01 Time limit for commencement (full permission) 

  
2. B01  Development in accordance with the approved plans 

 
-   Amended site plan - drawing number 1541.00E. 
-   Elevations and floor plans - House type A - drawing number 1541.01C 
-   Elevations and floor plans - House type B - drawing number 1541.02B 
-   Elevations and floor plans - House type C - drawing number 1541.04A 
-   Elevations and floor plans - House type D and E - drawing number 1541.05B 
-   Elevations and floor plans - House type F - drawing number 1541.07.  

32



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

- Landscape master plan date stamped Herefordshire Council 7 May 2014 on   
landscaping issues unless subject to conditions as attached below and amended 
footpath gradient detail submitted in support of the application.  
 
 

3. H13 Access, turning area and parking 
 

4. H17  Junction improvements/off site works 
 

5. H18 On site roads - submission of details 
 

6. 
 
7. 
 
8. 
 
9. 
   
10.   
 
11.  
 
12.  
 
13.  
 
 
 
 
14.  
 
 
 
15. 
 
16.   

H20 Road completion in 2 years 
 
H29 Secure covered cycle parking provision 
 
F14 Removal of permitted development rights 
 
C01 Sample of external materials (to include colour and sample of external render). 
 
D04  Details of window sections, eaves, verges and barge boards. 
 
D05 Details of external joinery finishes 
 
D10 Specification of guttering and downpipes 
 
All external doors and windows will be of timber construction in perpetuity. 
Reason: In consideration of the location of the development and to comply with 
Policies HBA4 and HBA6 of the Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy  Framework.   
 
G09 Details of boundary treatments (Detail will also be included with regards to 
boundary treatments between individual dwellings which will not be of close 
boarded fencing.  
 
G10 Landscaping scheme 
 
G11 Landscaping scheme implementation 
 

17. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18. 
 

19. 
 

Prior to commencement of the development, a species and habitat enhancement 
scheme must be submitted to, and be approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority, and the scheme shall be implemented as approved.  An appropriately 
qualified and experienced ecological clerk of works must be appointed (or 
consultant engaged in that capacity) to oversee the ecological mitigation work.  
 
 
Reason:  To ensure that all species are protected having regard to the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 and Policies NCI, NC6, NC7, NC8 and NC9 of the Herefordshire 
Unitary Development Plan  in relation to Nature Conservation and Biodiversity and 
to meet the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework and the NERC 
Act 2006 
 
L01 Foul/surface water drainage 
 
L02 No surface water to connect to public system 
 

33



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

20. 
 

21. 
 

22. 

L03 No drainage run-off to public system 
 
I16 Restriction of hours during construction 
 
I51 Details of slab levels 
 

15. Before construction works commence on site, a hydraulic modelling assessment 
shall be undertaken by the developer in liaison with Dwr Cmyru Welsh Water, in 
order to assess the effect the proposed development will have on the existing water 
supply network, together with any necessary associated infrastructure works. 
  
Reason: To protect the integrity of the existing water supply system.  
 

16. There shall be no beneficial use or occupation of any of the buildings hereby 
approved until such time that any necessary water infrastructure works required by 
the hydraulic modelling assessment referred to in the above condition have been 
completed and approved by Dwr Cymru Welsh Water and the Local Planning 
Authority has been informed in writing of its completion. 
  
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not adversely affect the 
integrity of the existing water supply system.  
 

17. L04 Comprehensive & Integrated drainage of site 
 

18. 
 
19.  
 

I55 Site Waste Management 
 
I52 Finished floor levels. 

 
INFORMATIVES: 
 
1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. 
 
3. 
 
4. 
 
5. 
 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by assessing the proposal against planning policy and any other 
material considerations. Negotiations in respect of matters of concern with the 
application (as originally submitted) have resulted in amendments to the proposal.  
As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning 
permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 
Management Plan for Residential Parking. 
 
Road layout as amendments to the turning head 
 
N11A 
 
N11C 
 

6. HN10 No drainage to discharge to highway 
 

7. HN08 Section 38 Agreement & Drainage details 
 

8. HN04 Private apparatus within highway 
 

9. HN28 Highways Design Guide and Specification 
 

34



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

10. HN13 Protection of visibility splays on private land 
 

11. HN05 Works within the highway 
 

 
Decision:  ..............................................................................................................................................  
 
Notes:  ..................................................................................................................................................  
 
 ..............................................................................................................................................................  
 
Background Papers 
 
Internal departmental consultation replies. 

35



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made. 
  
APPLICATION NO:  141408/F   
 
SITE ADDRESS :  BARLEY CLOSE, WOODSEAVES ROAD, EARDISLEY, HEREFORDSHIRE 
 
Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.   Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Herefordshire Council.  Licence No: 100024168/2005 

 

36



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

 

 
  

                     DRAFT HEADS OF TERMS 

Proposed Planning Obligation Agreement Section 106 Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 

 

This Heads of Terms has been assessed against the adopted Supplementary Planning Document 

on Planning Obligations dated 1st April 2008. All contributions in respect of the residential 

development are assessed against open market units only.  

 

Proposed residential development comprising 16 open market houses and 9 affordable houses on 

land known as Barley Close, Woodseaves Road, Eardisley, Herefordshire.  

 

1. The developer covenants with Herefordshire Council to pay Herefordshire Council the sum of (per 

open market unit):  

 

£3,106.00  (index linked) for a 2/3 bedroom open market unit  

£5,273.00  (index linked) for a 4+ bedroom open market unit  

 

to provide enhanced educational infrastructure at Kington Early Years, Eardisley Primary School, 

St Mary’s Roman Catholic School (8% of secondary contribution) Post 16, Kington Youth Services 

and Special Education Needs (1% of total contribution).  The sum may be pooled with other 

contributions if appropriate. Based on the submitted scheme the education contribution will 

be £60,531.00. 

 

2. The developer covenants with Herefordshire Council to pay Herefordshire Council the sums of (per 

open market unit):  

 

£3,686.00  (index linked) for a 3 bedroom open market unit  

£4,915.00  (index linked) for a 4+ bedroom open market unit  

to provide a sustainable transport infrastructure to serve the development. The sum may be 

pooled with other contributions if appropriate. Based on the submitted scheme the transport 

contribution will be £65,121.00. 

 

 

37



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

The monies shall be used by Herefordshire Council at its option for any or all of the following 

purposes, in Eardisley: 

  

• Traffic calming and traffic management measures in the locality, this will include the 

management of traffic movements in the centre of the village where there is conflict between 

vehicles and pedestrians due to the width of the carriageway and properties being hard on to 

the edge of the carriageway  

• New pedestrian and crossing facilities, this will include the provision of footways and dropped 

kerbs to connect the development at Upper Court, Eardisley 

• Creation of new and enhancement in the usability of existing footpaths and cycleways 

connecting to the site  

• Provision of and enhancement of existing localised bus infrastructure  

• Safer routes to school  

 

Note: Pedestrian crossing facilities will be provided within the vicinity of the access to the 

development on Woodseaves Road. These are necessary to make the development acceptable 

and will be delivered by the developer through a Section 278 Highway agreement. 

 

3.  The developer covenants with Herefordshire Council to pay Herefordshire Council the sum of (per 

open market unit):  

 

£1,640.00   (index linked) for a 3 bedroom open market unit  

£2,219.00   (index linked) for a 4+ bedroom open market unit  

 

To provide an off-site play contribution towards the improvement of the existing play areas in 

Eardisley. The sum may be pooled with other contributions if appropriate. Based on the submitted 

scheme the off-site play contribution will be £65,121.00. 

 

4.  The developer covenants with Herefordshire Council to pay Herefordshire Council the sum of:  

 

£198.00   (index linked) for a 3 bedroom open market unit  

£241.00  (index linked) for a 4+ bedroom open market unit  

 

The contributions will provide for enhanced Library facilities in Hereford. The sum may be pooled 

with other contributions if appropriate. Based on the submitted scheme the library contribution 

will be £3,383.00.  

38



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

 

5.  The developer covenants with Herefordshire Council to pay Herefordshire Council the sum of 

£120.00 (index linked) per open market dwelling. The sum may be pooled with other contributions 

if appropriate. Based on the submitted scheme the waste contribution will be £1,920.00. 

 

   6.  Given the location of the development Herefordshire Council would not wish to adopt any on site 

Public Open Space. The maintenance of the on-site Public Open Space (POS) will be by a 

management company which is demonstrably adequately self-funded or will be funded through 

an acceptable on-going arrangement; or through local arrangements such as the parish council 

or a Trust set up for the new community for example. There is a need to ensure good quality 

maintenance programmes are agreed and implemented and that the areas remain available for 

public use.  

 
Note: The attenuation basin will be transferred to the Council with a 60 year commuted 

maintenance sum.  

 

7.   The developer covenants with Herefordshire Council that 35% (9 units) of the residential units 

shall be "Affordable Housing" which meets the criteria set out in Policy H9 of the Herefordshire 

Unitary Development Plan or any statutory replacement of those criteria and that policy including 

the Supplementary Planning Document on Planning Obligations.  

 

8.   Of those Affordable Housing units, 3 shall be made available for social rent with the remaining 6 

affordable housing units being available for intermediate tenure occupation.  

 

9.   All the affordable housing units shall be completed and made available for occupation prior to the 

occupation of no more than 50% of the general market housing or in accordance with a phasing 

programme to be agreed in writing with Herefordshire Council.  

 

10. The Affordable Housing Units must at all times be let and managed or co-owned in accordance 

with the guidance issued by the Homes and Communities Agency (or any successor agency) 

from time to time with the intention that the Affordable Housing Units shall at all times be used for 

the purposes of providing Affordable Housing to persons who are eligible in accordance with the 

allocation policies of the Registered Social Landlord; and satisfy the following requirements:- 

 

10.1. registered with Home Point at the time the Affordable Housing Unit becomes available for 

residential occupation; and  

 

39



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

10.2. satisfy the requirements of paragraphs 11 & 12 of this schedule  

 

11.    The Affordable Housing Units must be advertised through Home Point and allocated in  

accordance with the Herefordshire Allocation Policy for occupation as a sole residence to a 

person or persons one of whom has:- 

 

11.1. a local connection with the parish of Eardisley  

 

11.2. in the event of there being no person with a local connection to Eardisley any other person 

with a local connection to an adjoining parish to Eardisley 

  

11.3. In the event of there being no person with a local connection to Eardisley or adjoining 

parishes than any other person ordinarily resident within the administrative area of the 

Council who is eligible under the allocation policies of the Registered Social Landlord if the 

Registered Social Landlord can demonstrate to the Council that after 84 working days of any 

of the Affordable Housing Units becoming available for letting the Registered Social 

Landlord having made all reasonable efforts through the use of Home Point have found no 

suitable candidate under sub-paragraph 11.1 and 11.2 above.  

 

12.    For the purposes of sub-paragraph 11.1 and 11.2 of this schedule local connection 

means having a connection to one of the parishes specified above because that person:  

 

12.1 is or in the past was normally resident there; or  

12.2. is employed there; or  

12.3. has a family association there; or  

12.4. a proven need to give support to or receive support from family members; or  

12.5. because of special circumstances. 

 

13.  The developer covenants with Herefordshire Council to construct the Affordable Housing Units to 

the Homes and Communities Agency 'Design and Quality Standards 2007' (or to such 

subsequent design and quality standards of the Homes and Communities Agency as are current 

at the date of construction) and to Joseph Rowntree Foundation 'Lifetime Homes' standards. 

Independent certification shall be provided prior to the commencement of the development and 

following occupation of the last dwelling confirming compliance with the required standard.  

 

14.  The developer covenants with Herefordshire Council to construct the Affordable Housing Units to 

Code Level 3 of the 'Code for Sustainable Homes - Setting the Standard in Sustainability for New 

Homes' or equivalent standard of carbon emission reduction, energy and water efficiency as may 

40



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr P Mullineux on 01432 261808 
PF2 
 

be agreed in writing with the local planning authority. Independent certification shall be provided 

prior to the commencement of the development and following occupation of the last dwelling 

confirming compliance with the required standard.  

 

15.  In the event that Herefordshire Council does not for any reason use the sums in paragraphs 1, 2, 

3, 4 and 5 above, for the purposes specified in the agreement within 10 years of the date of the 

last receipt of the Section 106 monies, the Council shall repay to the developer the said sum or 

such part thereof, which has not been used by Herefordshire Council.  

 

16.  The sums referred to in paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 above shall be linked to an appropriate index 

or indices selected by the Council with the intention that such sums will be adjusted according to 

any percentage increase in prices occurring between the date of the Section 106 Agreement and 

the date the sums are paid to the Council.  

 

17.  The sums referred to in paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 above shall be payable in four equal  

instalments upon completion of the construction of units 4, 8, 12, and 15 of the open market 

houses.  

 

18.   The developer covenants with Herefordshire Council to pay a surcharge of 1% of the total sum 

detailed in this Heads of Terms, as a contribution towards the cost of monitoring and enforcing 

the Section 106 Agreement. The sum shall be paid on or before the commencement of the 

development.  

 

19.  The developer shall pay to the Council on or before the completion of the Agreement, the 

reasonable legal fees for the completion of the legal agreement. 

 

41



42



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

 

MEETING: PLANNING COMMITTEE 

DATE: 10 DECEMBER 2014 

TITLE OF 
REPORT: 

P141687/F - CHANGE OF USE OF LAND FROM 
AGRICULTURE TO A ONE FAMILY TRAVELLER SITE, WITH 
STATIONING OF ONE MOBILE HOME, ONE TOURING 
CARAVAN, PARKING AND TURNING AREA, RE-DESIGNED 
ACCESS AND SEPTIC TANK AT MID SUMMER ORCHARD, 
(LAND AT OAKLEY COTTAGE), RIDGE HILL, 
HEREFORDSHIRE, HR2 8AG 
 
For: Miss Janes, Hillrise Bungalow, Upper Raice, Pontypool, 
NP4 5XE 
 

WEBSITE 
LINK: 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/development-control/search-and-comment-on-planning-applications/details?id=141687&search=141687 

 

Reason Application Submitted to Committee - Redirection 
 
 
Date Received: 5 June 2014 Ward: Hollington Grid Ref: 351082,235850 
Expiry Date: 31 July 2014 
Local Member: Councillor  P Sinclair-Knipe  
 
 
1.1 The site lies on the western side of an unclassified road (U72014) between the C1261 

Hoarwithy Road and the A49 Trunk Road at Ridge Hill, to the south of Hereford City.  The 
narrow lane is aligned northeast-southwest as it passes the site, but its route takes a sharp 
dog leg turn to the northwest approximately 450 metres to the southwest of the site.  To the 
southwest of the site there is a detached cottage, Oakley Cottage, which is set further away 
from the lane than the application site and is served by an unmade track, which is a Public 
Right of Way (PROW - LOB8A) and which also serves Don Rob (a replacement dwelling).  To 
the northeast, the only other dwelling on this side of the lane is Three Counties View, a large 
detached dwelling, separated from the application site by agricultural land.  On the opposite 
side of the lane there are 9 properties in total, comprising post-war ribbon development, 
predominantly single storey in nature (6 bungalows, 1 dormer bungalow & 2 houses).  
Immediately opposite the application site the land is not developed, with a gap of 
approximately 55 metres between Three Gables, which is a dormer bungalow, and Trevellyan, 
a house.  To the south of Three Gables there is an unmade track that serves a number of 
other dwellings.  The site and surrounding area fall within the visual envelope of the Foxley 
registered historic park and garden. 

 
1.2 The entirety of the land in the applicant’s ownership extends to some 0.8 hectares, but the 

application site (as outlined in red) for which permission is sought is 0.12 hectares.  This has 
been reduced from 0.279 hectares from the previous, withdrawn application.  There is an 
existing vehicular access into the site and a range of timber dilapidated sheds and stables 
located along the roadside boundary.  A hedgerow with mature trees, demarks the roadside 

AGENDA ITEM 5

43



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

boundary and there are also hedgerows to the remaining boundaries.  Levels gradually rise 
into the site and fall more rapidly towards the apple orchard and western part of the site. 

 
1.3  It is proposed to change the use of the site to a single family traveller site, which would 

include the provision of a static caravan (9.6m by 3.4m), a touring caravan, parking area and 
play area.  As originally submitted a septic tank was proposed, but this has subsequently 
been revised to a private sewerage treatment plant.  The submitted proposed site plan 
indicates that a 1.8m high fence would be provided behind the existing hedgerow along the 
roadside and north-eastern site boundaries and additional planting to enclose the pitch from 
the rest of the site. 

 
1.4  The applicant has advised that the family consists of the applicant, her daughter and her 

three children, and her son.  They currently occupy a property in Upper Raice, Pontypool. 
 
1.5 A revised Design and Access Statement has been submitted and is summarised in the 

representations, along with correspondence received from the applicant during the 
consideration of the applications. 

 
2. Policies  
 
2.1  National Planning Policy Framework – NPPF 
 
  The following sections are considered to be of particular relevance: 
 

Introduction -  Achieving Sustainable Development 
Section 3 -  Supporting a Prosperous Rural Economy 
Section 4 -  Promoting Sustainable Transport 
Section 7 -  Requiring Good Design 
Section 8 -  Promoting Healthy Communities 
Section 11 -  Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment 

 
2.2  Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan (HUDP) 
 

S1  - Sustainable Development 
S2  - Development Requirements 
S3  - Housing 
S6  - Transport 
DR1  - Design 
DR2  - Land Use and Activity 
DR3  - Movement 
DR4  - Environment 
H7  - Housing in the Countryside Outside Settlements 
H12  - Gypsies and Other Travellers 
LA2  - Landscape Character and Areas Least Resilient to Change 
LA4  - Protection of Historic Parks and Gardens 
LA5  - Protection of Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 
LA6  - Landscape Schemes 
E15  - Protection of Greenfield Land 
NC1  - Biodiversity and Development 
NC8  - Habitat Creation, Restoration and Enhancement 

  CF2  - Foul Drainage 
 
2.3  Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 
 

SS1  - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
H4  - Traveller Sites 

44



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

LD1  - Landscapes and Townscapes 
LD2  - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
LD3  - Green Infrastructure 
SD1  - Sustainable Design and Energy Efficiency 
SD4  - Wastewater Treatment and River Water Quality 
 

2.4 Neighbourhood Plans 
 

Lower Bullingham Parish Council has successfully applied to designate the Parish as a 
Neighbourhood Area under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.  The 
area was confirmed on 20th August 2014.  The Parish Council will have the responsibility of 
preparing a Neighbourhood Plan for that area.  There is no timescale for proposing/agreeing 
the content of the plan at this early stage, but the plan must be in general conformity with the 
strategic content of the emerging Core Strategy.  In view of this no material weight can be 
given to this emerging Plan. 

 
2.5  Other Material Considerations 
 

Planning Policy for Traveller Sites March 2012 
 

Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Good Practice Guide 
 

 DCLG – Consultation: planning and travellers (10 week consultation period from 14 
September to 23 November 2014) 

 
2.6 The Unitary Development Plan policies together with any relevant supplementary planning 

documentation can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:- 
 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/unitary-development-plan 
 
3. Planning History 
 
3.1  SH90/0306/0 – One three bedroomed bungalow – refused 27.6.1990. 
 
3.2 133149/F – Change of use of land from agricultural to a one family traveller site with a 

stationing of one mobile home, one touring caravan.  Retention of shed/stables, redesigned 
access, parking and turning area and septic tank – withdrawn 17.3.2014. 

 
4. Consultation Summary 
 
 Staututory Consultees 
 
 None 
 
 Internal Council Advice 
 
4.1 Transportation Manager: The indicated access, parking and turning arrangement is considered 

acceptable.  The sustainability of the location needs to be taken into consideration, and 
information in this respect is included in Paragraphs 26 to 30 of the Design and Access 
Statement, which gives distances to facilities and the nearest bus route. 

 
4.2 Environmental Health Manager has no objection.  A Caravan Site Licence would be required if 

planning permission is granted and should provide adequate foul drainage. 
 
4.3  Commissioning Officer (Housing Strategy) comments that ‘From Understanding Herefordshire 

2014’ - ‘A separate accommodation and needs assessment for Gypsies and Travellers is near 
completion to update the 2008 assessment which identified the need for 83 pitches between 

45



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

2008 and 2012 and a further 26 pitches by 2017.  To date 49 pitches have been delivered or 
identified against this figure.  In addition, funding was successfully acquired in 2013 to update 
and refurbish 53 council-owned pitches’.  It is anticipated that a need will continue to be 
identified once the current needs assessment is completed. 

 
4.4  Ecologist: I have inspected the grassland and hedgerows on the site.  The sward is somewhat 

neglected and very coarse being composed of cocksfoot (Dactylis glomerata), Yorkshire Fog 
(Holcus lanatus), creeping bent (Agrostis stolonifera) with some finer sheep’s fescue (Festuca 
ovina).  The broadleaved component consisted of broad-leaved dock (Rumex obtusifolius), 
perennial nettle (Urtica diioca), ribwort plantain (Plantago lanceolata), sorrel (Rumex acetosa), 
creeping buttercup (Ranunculus repens) and creeping thistle (Cirsium arvense).  These latter 
broadleaved plants are ruderal plants regarded as weeds within the sward and in places 
dominated it. 
 
The hedgerow on the north west boundary is species rich and consists of a good mixture of 
field maple (Acer campestre), blackthorn (Prunus spinosa), hazel, (Coylus avellana), dogwood 
(Cornus sanguinea), hawthorn (Crataegus monogyna), ash (Fraxinus excelsior) and dog rose 
(Rosa canina).  I believe this may qualify it as an important hedgerow under the Hedgerow 
Regulations 1997 although it may fall short of this under a standard survey for such.  The 
roadside hedgerow is dominated by hawthorn with some sycamore tree growth and so is 
species poor. 
 
There is no proposal to remove any hedgerows as far as I am aware.  My view is that the use 
of this plot as proposed would not impact upon any UK or European protected species or 
Habitats of Principle Importance. 

 
5. Representations 
 
5.1 Lower Bullingham Parish Council strongly object to this application for the following reasons: 
  

The site is within open countryside and in terms of its location relative to goods and services it 
is considered that the development is unsustainable and would have a detrimental impact 
upon the surrounding area. 

 
 The application does not demonstrate that there is a genuine local need for the proposed one 

family traveller site, with stationing of one mobile home, one touring caravan. 
 
 The Parish Council considers that the application is contrary to Herefordshire Unitary 

Development plan policies H7, H12, S1& DR2. It is also considered by the Parish Council that 
this application is contrary to the draft core strategy polices H4, RA1 or RA2  

 
 The Parish Council would also like point out that the application is contrary to NPPF PARA 55 

which seeks to promote sustainable development in rural areas and that isolated homes in the 
countryside should be avoided unless there are special circumstances.  We would point out 
that there are no shops, school in the local area and at present there a limited bus service and 
therefore this application doesn’t meet the criteria of “sustainable development”. 

 
 The Parish Council would like to highlight the outcome of a recent planning application that 

was refused planning permission in the area because it did not meet the criteria for 
sustainable development.  The appellant appealed and that appeal has been dismissed. The 
Parish Council considers that appeal decision made (albeit a chalet bungalow) should be 
taken into account  when considering the term “Sustainable development” in rural areas where 
it is considered there is no justified local need. 

 

46



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

5.2  Fifty letters of objection and one raising concerns have been received.  This includes a letter 
stated as being submitted on behalf of ‘Residents of Ridgehill and Twyford’.  These letters 
raise the following, summarised points: 
 
Principle of Development: 
• Open countryside, outside of settlement where planning policies restrict development 
• Unsustainable 
• no genuine choice of modes of transport, bus service is infrequent and due to nature of 

unlit, narrow roads/lanes and distances cycling and walking are not feasible 
• too far from services and facilities 
• applications for dwellings locally have been refused and dismissed at appeal recently due 

to unsustainability of the site (reference: 131632/F) 
• no travel plan (fails to comply with policy DR3 points 2 and 3) 
• Three roles of sustainable development 
• Social – only circumstantial evidence of need 
• Economic – limited benefits 
• Environmental – unsustainable location (1.4km to bus stop on A49 – 0.8km across fields) 
• No demonstrated need 
• Traveller sites should not be treated differently to any other residential development 
• Proposal includes a ‘static’ caravan, hardstanding and septic tank so is a disguised 

proposal for a permanent development and not for travellers 
• Applicant has not been nomadic for many years, not a traveller 
• Applicant’s connection with Hereford was 20 years ago 
• Dependants have no local connections 
• No exceptional need for applicant to live on site, or in the parish 
• If application is refused the applicant and family would not be homeless 
• No evidence of consideration of sequentially preferable sites and difficulties in finding 

alternatives 
• Not an application for a specific user, would be generic traveller site 
• May be used by more than one family in the future, resulting in impact on law enforcement 

services by illegal occupation of the site 
• Site is too large and disproportionate to need 
• Existing traveller sites could accommodate 2 caravans, availability on local authority sites 

should be explored. 
 
Landscape impact: 
• Harmful to landscape, detract and not in keeping with the character of the area, due to 

appearance of static caravans and tourer. 
• Segregation of parcel of land and loss of panoramic views 
• Adverse impact through development of site in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 

Greenbelt and a greenfield site (protected by planning policies) 
• Tranquil area, development would be an extension of the city 
• Caravans, due to height (4m), and appearance on a sloping site would be clearly visible 

and intrusive 
• 6 foot high fencing and close boarded gates would not be compatible with local 

distinctiveness and would hinder integration 
• In sight line of ancient monument (Dinedor Hill), permission previously refused for 

development of the site on this basis 
• Urbanising impact of proposal 
• Landscaping scheme lacks clarity 
• Ridgehill comprises mix of properties, mostly from the 1930s, proposal would not be in 

keeping 
• Not infill development, so unacceptable 
• Such sites are often untidy. 

47



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

 
Biodiversity: 
• Ancient pasture land, farmed for years 
• No ecological or arboricultural surveys undertaken to establish if protected species or if 

hedgerows/trees would be affected 
• Wonderful fauna, flora and wide diversity including voles, door mouse nests, kestrels, 

buzzards, woodpeckers, barn owl and bats. 
 
Drainage: 
• Poor percolation test, no details of how access will be drained 
• Ditches locally cannot cope with heavy rain – flooding 
• Impermeable hard standing and car park area would lead to flooding 
• Soakaway reduced in this application, so worse than previously proposed. 
 
Highway safety: 
• Narrow lane in poor state of repair 
• Access and lane are too narrow to bring caravans onto the site (road sign states lane is 

unsuitable for large vehicles) 
• Road and verges are narrower than stated, visibility is poor 
• Road is subject to a 60mph limit, which requires a stopping distance of 73m. 
 
Contamination: 
• Potentially contaminated due to farm use – arsenic, fertilisers, fuel etc and buried stock 
• Why is fencing proposed around the soakaway? Is there a potential for contamination? 
• Environmental Health have been previously involved due to sewage seepage in ditches 
• Water supply from well, will this be affected? 
 
General Comments: 
• Main issues of previous withdrawn application not overcome, only minor alterations to size 

of site, parking and layout, access and drainage 
• Refusals for residential development locally, so unfair if local residents can not build 

homes in the area but travellers can. 
• Site reduced in size, application is the thin end of the wedge, potential for future 

expansion 
• Could site be used for business? 
• Red line should include soakaway 
• New build referred to by applicant was a replacement dwelling 
• Not disputed that applicant is a traveller, but this does not equate to need 
• Application is to exchange one permanent dwelling in Pontypool for another in Hereford 

cheaply, as land is agricultural 
• Would touring caravan leave the site or also be ‘static’ 
• Site is not on a recognised traveller route 
• English Heritage have expressed concerns about water purity and impact upon the AONB 
• Applicant’s information is contradictory, as it states that it is a sustainable location but not 

isolated, and is a quiet environment so remote? 
• 1/3rd acre site is not small 
• Cynical inclusion of children’s play area, but no details of how it would be safe, as 

required by policy 
• Forms state 4 bedroomed dwelling 
• Disruption to residents’ lives, properties up for sale and vacant due to proposal, difficulties 

in selling properties. 
• If granted should be temporary, renewable and personal to applicant to avoid non-local 

need occupation in the future 
• Applicant should wait for results of process to ascertain long term policy for the county 

48



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

• If breaches of permission occur the cost of enforcement would be passed on to the 
taxpayer 

• Site will take significant Council resources to maintain 
• How is static/touring caravan and site suitable for a disabled occupant? 
• Potential noise nuisance from vehicles and generators 
• Reduction in privacy and enjoyment of neighbouring properties 
• Significant increase in population of Ridgehill 
• Pressure for further development, more difficult to resist if this proposal is allowed 
• Incompatible use with livestock on adjacent field 
• No benefit to local community, only demand on services 
• Devaluing of properties, owned by tax payers 
• Previous application refused for the site 
• Application lacks detailed, scaled drawings 
• Strength of local opposition should be supported 
• Application is ‘by the back door’, land bought cheaply 
• Allotments would be preferable and would bring the community together 
• Could get out of control, like other such sites at Dale Farm, Crays Hill, Essex and 

Meridan, Solihull 
• Applicant has not engaged with local residents, showing a narrow and isolationist 

approach 
• Development would lead to a fractured local community spirit 
• Applicant currently has a scrap metal business at property (as seen on Google earth 

photo) 
• Already one caravan site in the area, which causes congestion, noise nuisance from 

parties and reduction in privacy resulting from additional walkers in the area 
• If the application is successful neighbours of the site will apply to build on their land 
• If permission is grant the decision will be challenged. 

 
5.3  Applicant’s Design and Access Statement.  This is an amended version of that originally 

submitted for the previous application, which was withdrawn.  The main points raised are: 
 

• Essential differences from withdrawn scheme are reduction in size of the site (from 0.279 
hectares to 0.1225 hectares), touring caravan is resited adjacent to the static within a 
hedged enclosure, resiting and reduction in the car parking area, amendments to the 
drainage field and additional planting to increase screening from neighbouring properties 

• Application site is approximately 0.8 hectares, some 2.7 miles southeast of Hereford 
• Site has been used as smallholding until recently 
• Existing sheds/stables grouped around the eastern boundary 
• Remainder of the site is improved pasture land, with the exception of the well established 

apple orchard on the western boundary, on the downslope of Ridgehill 
• Site is in the open countryside, but not isolated being part of an ad hoc settlement, 

properties in the vicinity and a caravan site 
• PROW runs downhill between the site and the caravan site to the A49 near to the Grafton 

Inn 
• Site is largely flat, but rises slightly from the road to the ridge (which runs north-south 

down the centre of the site) and the falls away gently at first (35m or so) and then more 
steeply 

• Hedgerows (many around 2m in height) enclose three side and the orchard along the 
remaining boundary.  The roadside hedgerow needs additional planting 

• Views are restricted in the summer, houses opposite do overlook the site to some extent, 
but are distant.  Additional planting will reduce this 

• Existing access via adjacent field gates 
• Welsh Water mains drain runs under the land at the site’s entrance.  Welsh Water have 

been consulted 

49



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

• Applicants are Travellers with in the PPTS annex 1 definition.  They lived a nomadic life, 
mainly in relation to working on farms.  Places they have stayed were given in previous 
application.  They have family members in and around the Hereford area, including on 
council and private sites. 

• Family consists of a mother, her son, her daughter and her daughter’s three children.  
They settled for the education of the children, they had a desire to return to their roots 
both in living in a caravan and returning to Herefordshire. 

• Other sites have been looked at over the years but none were suitable 
• Existing access would be in same position on the highway, but set back 5 metres and 

reduced to a width of 3.5m 
• Temporary 6 foot (1.8m) high fence is proposed behind the hedge on the north and east 

to improve privacy and act as windbreak until the additional planting has matured. 
• Modern twin chamber septic tank with drainage field is proposed.  As amended the 

distribution pipes would run in a continuous loop system. 
• Policies H7 and H12 of the UDP, the Government’s PPTS are applicable 
• Unsure of weight to be afforded to policies RA3 and H4 of the deposit draft Core Strategy.  

Should note that policy allows for an exception where sites do not have reasonable 
access to service and facilities provided that they are retained in perpetuity.  Also it 
confirms that no allocations of land are likely before an SPD in 2017 and immediate 
provision will rely on private sites. 
 

• In terms of sustainability and the three roles: 
• Social – reduces pressure on official sites and roadside encampments, promotes mixed, 

inclusive communities (PPTS paragraph 13).  Number of objections to this modest 
application indicate quite an exclusive community.  Development of similar private 
traveller sites gives little support to the fears expressed and provide evidence of the social 
benefits of a more stable lifestyle 

• Economic – relatively easy access to employment areas.  Education/training of the three 
young people will benefit from relatively easy access to further education 

• Environmental – site is 4.4km from city, 2.9km from local centre at Hinton – which 
includes supermarket, convenience stores (open days a week), public house etc, schools 
and doctors surgery. 

 
• Bus service (44 Hereford – Ross on Wye) has 4/5 services per day to Hereford, including 

early and late services to fit in with work/school.  Ridgehill turn bus stop/shelter is 0.8km 
away.  Access to this is down a lightly trafficked lane (6 vehicles counted in ½ hour), with 
a verge along much of the route and houses (important on dark evenings).  The applicants 
intend on using the bus to access services 

• A49 bus stop, accessed by PROW (16 minute walk), gives access to good services to 
Hereford, Ross-on-Wye and Gloucester and beyond.  Acknowledge that PROW is steep, 
but is usable by young people in dry weather 

• Cycling from Hinton to the site has been timed at 11 minutes and to High Town, Hereford 
15.5 minutes and 18.5 minutes for the return journey 

• ‘Reasonable distance’ is not defined.  Earlier draft Core Strategy policy gave a threshold 
of 5km 

• Reference given to appeal decisions where Inspector’s expressed views regarding what 
‘reasonable distance’ was.  Less than a mile on a route conducive to walking was 
considered unduly restrictive and a site served by roads without footways is not 
uncommon in the countryside 

• The site is in the landscape classification ‘Forest Smallholdings and dwellings’, where the 
Landscape Classification SPD states additional individual dwellings maybe appropriate in 
certain circumstances 

• Development is modest, surrounding pasture is largely preserved.  The surrounding 
settlement is not compromised 

50



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

• True that not in keeping with the rural street scene, but should be considered in the 
landscape as a whole.  Traveller sites, by their nature, are different and if expected to be 
in keeping with the local settlement type and arrangement would not be allowed 
anywhere. 

• Significant weight should be given to the need for additional pitches, at most recent 
appeal decision in the county (The Leys, Lyne Down, near Much Marcle) the Inspector 
concludes that the harm (not well located for access to services and facilities) was 
outweighed by the general need for such sites. 

• 2007 Gypsy and Travellers Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) have not been met and 
most recent GTAA (draft form) assesses additional need as 31 pitches 

• Waiting list on council sites 
• PPTS supports more private sites – difficult to find and acquire and negotiate the planning 

system with barrage of objections 
• LPA can make land available for housing but not traveller sites, which is why it is an 

exception to the normal restrictive policy 
• Applicants wish children to connect with their culture before they are fully adult and a quiet 

and stable environment for one of the occupant’s health problems 
• Refusal of application would not result in homelessness but would have an issue related 

to links between traditional nomadic lifestyle or semi-nomadic and ethnic identity 
• Proposal is similar to a number of other applications that have been approved and 

developed successfully. 
• These sites contribute to the requirement to ‘facilitate the travelling way of life’, and benefit 

those living on site and the public in reducing unauthorised camping 
• Private sites are the only way to meet the acknowledged need 
• The site is adjacent to an existing settlement, but would not dominate it and existing and 

proposed landscaping will provide screening.  Minimal impact upon neighbours 
• Applicants have need for a site and significant local connections. 

 
5.4  Further letters have been received from the applicant and Hereford Traveller Support on her 

behalf.  These state the following: 
 

• The name on the application form should read ‘Janes’ and not ‘James’, this results from a 
misreading 

• The application forms are designed for housing, which constitute one unit, and are not 
fully appropriate for caravans.  Four bedrooms is a loose indication, equating to two rooms 
in the static caravan and two in the tourer.  Two units are proposed, as shown on the 
submitted block plan 

• Intention is to have portaloo toilet, plumbed into the drainage system.  Bathroom will be in 
the static 

• The two sheds in repairable condition will be repaired and retained.  One used for a pony 
and the other for storage, chickens etc.   The others will be removed and the site tied up. 

• The Council’s current consultation on an Issues and Options Paper with regards Traveller 
sites gives three options:–  
1) expanding existing sites 
2) new sites on the outskirts of Hereford and market towns 
3) less sustainable locations in the countryside 

• An appeal decision at Norton Canon (reference APP/W1850/C/09/2119597) concluded 
that a site that was just over 5km from Weobley and 11 miles from Hereford did not have 
unreasonable access to services and although the car was the most likely means of 
transport other practical options existed. 

 
5.4 The consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following 

link:- 
 http://news.herefordshire.gov.uk/housing/planning/searchplanningapplications.aspx 
 

51



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:- 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage 

 
6. Officer’s Appraisal 

 
Policy and Guidance 

 
6.1  It is a legal requirement that applications are determined in accordance with the Development 

Plan, unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise (section 38(6) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990).  This requirement is reconfirmed in paragraphs 11 to 13 of the NPPF.  These 
paragraphs state that the NPPF is guidance and does not change the statutory status of the 
Development Plan, but that it is highly desirable for local planning authorities to have an 
up-to-date local plan.  The Development Plan consists of the Herefordshire Unitary 
Development Plan (HUDP).  This is time expired, but as set out in paragraph 215 of the NPPF 
due weight can still be afforded to the policies contained in the Development Plan according to 
their degree of consistency with the NPPF. 

 
6.2  The site lies in open countryside, where policy H7 of the HUDP is applicable.  This seeks to 

restrict new residential development in the open countryside and sets out certain, specified 
exceptions to this presumption.  The site is not adjacent to a settlement or facilities, such as 
shops, education or health facilities, but is on the opposite side of the road to a small number 
of dwellings.  It is considered that the site is in a location where the NPPF would seek to 
restrict new development, as set out in paragraphs 55.  As such the objectives of policy H7 of 
the HUDP are consistent with those of paragraph 55 of the NPPF in regard of this site. 

 
6.3 As an exception to the presumption against new residential development, policy H7(6) of the 

HUDP permits sites for the needs of Gypsies or other Travellers in accordance with policy 
H12.  HUDP Policy H12 confirms that proposals to accommodate gypsies’ needs will be 
permitted where they comply with the four following criteria. 

 
1. The site is within reasonable distance of local services and facilities; 

 
2. Sites for settled occupation should be small, as should temporary or transit sites, unless 

there is a need to provide a site on a route frequented by groups travelling in large 
numbers; 

 
3. Adequate screening and landscaping is included within the proposal in order to ensure 

that the proposal does not result in an adverse impact upon the character and amenity of 
the landscape, particularly within the Malvern Hills and Wye Valley AONB, conservation 
areas or other sensitive locations; and 

 
4. They contain appropriate levels of residential amenity, including safe play areas for 

children and provide satisfactory work and storage areas. 
 

6.4  Core Strategy Policy H4 is the current iteration of the proposed local policy for gypsy and 
traveller sites.  Minimal weight can be attributed to it in view of the level of objection to the 
deposited document.  That said, the content of Policy H4 is considered to broadly reflect both 
HUDP policy H12 and the national guidance, although it does refer to local need, contrary to 
the DCLG Planning Policy for Travellers Sites (March 2012) (PPTS), which does not require a 
local connection in applications for traveller sites. 
 

6.5 The PPTS provides the most recent national guidance for such forms of development and is 
an important material planning consideration.  It states that it should be read in conjunction 
with the NPPF.  The introduction to the NPPF (section 4) confirms that when taking decisions 
on traveller sites local planning authorities should have regard to the policies of the NPPF, so 

52



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

far as are relevant.  The PPTS states that policies and decisions should facilitate the traditional 
and nomadic way of life of travellers whilst respecting the interests of the settled community.  It 
promotes more private gypsy/traveller site provision in appropriate locations, but having due 
regard to access to services and the protection of the local amenity and environment.  When 
assessing the suitability of sites in rural or semi-rural settings Local Planning Authorities 
should ensure that the scale of such sites would not dominate the nearest settled community 
and would not place an undue pressure on local infrastructure.  Sites should be well-planned 
with adequate landscaping and play areas, and avoid creating an enclosed site which could 
appear to isolate the occupants from the rest of the community. 

 
6.6 In respect of Plan Making paragraph 11 of the PPTS requires that traveller sites are 

sustainable economically, socially and environmentally and that local planning authorities 
must ensure that policies: 

 
a) Promote peaceful and integrated co-existence between the site and the local community. 
b) Promote, in collaboration with commissioners of health services, access to appropriate 

health services. 
c) Ensure that children can attend school on a regular basis. 
d) Provide a settled base that reduces the need for long-distance travelling and possible 

environmental damage caused by unauthorised encampment. 
e) Provide for proper consideration of the effect of local environmental quality (such as 

noise and air quality) on the health and well-being of any travellers that may locate there 
or on others as a result of new development. 

f) Avoid placing undue pressure on local infrastructure and services. 
g) Do not locate sites in areas at high risk of flooding, including functional floodplains, given 

the particular vulnerability of caravans. 
h) Reflect the extent to which traditional lifestyles (whereby some travellers live and work 

from the same location thereby omitting many travel to work journeys) can contribute to 
sustainability. 
 

6.7 In the determination of planning applications paragraph 22 of the PPTS sets out criteria (a-e) 
which are issues that the LPA should consider.  These are as follows: 
 
a) the existing level of local provision and need for sites  
b) the availability (or lack) of alternative accommodation for the applicants  
c) other personal circumstances of the applicant  
d) that the locally specific criteria used to guide the allocation of sites in plans or which form 

the policy where there is no identified need for pitches/plots should be used to assess 
applications that may come forward on unallocated sites  

e) that they should determine applications for sites from any travellers and not just those with 
local connections. 

 
6.8 With regards sites in the open countryside, away from existing settlements or areas allocated 

for development, the PPTS advises that Local Planning Authorities should strictly control new 
sites.  In rural areas sites should respect the scale of, and not dominate the nearest settled 
community, and not place undue pressure on local infrastructure (paragraph 23).  The 
guidance advises that weight should be attached to the following (paragraph 24): 

 
a) effective use of previously developed (brownfield), untidy or derelict land 
b) sites being well planned or soft landscaped in such a way as to positively enhance the 

environment and increase its openness  
c) promoting opportunities for healthy lifestyles, such as ensuring adequate landscaping and 

play areas for children 
d) not enclosing a site with so much hard landscaping, high walls or fences, that the 

impression may be given that the site and its occupants are deliberately isolated from the 
rest of the community. 

53



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

 
6.9  In light of the above HUDP policy H12 is considered to be in broad conformity with the PPTS 

guidance and accordingly significant weight can be afforded to it. 
 
6.10 The PPTS advises that if a local planning authority cannot demonstrate an up–to-date five-

year supply of deliverable sites, this should be a significant material consideration in any 
subsequent planning decision.  In an appeal decision at Much Marcle (planning application 
reference DMS/111132/F - appeal APP/W1850/A/11/2160518, dated 22.2.2012) an 
Inspector considered that the under provision of traveller sites in Herefordshire should be 
given significant weight.  The provision has not materially improved to date.  In allowing the 
appeal the Inspector determined that in that case the lack of provision outweighed the 
unsatisfactory location of the site, in terms of access to services and facilities and an adverse 
landscape impact. 

 
Current Provision and Need 

 
6.11 An accommodation and needs assessment for Gypsies and Travellers is near completion to 

update the 2008 assessment. This identified the need for 83 pitches between period 2008 
and 2012 and a further need for an additional 26 pitches by 2017.  To date 49 pitches have 
been delivered or identified against this figure. There is therefore still a clear and significant 
shortfall in provision and as such there is a demonstrated need for additional pitches to be 
delivered. 

. 
6.12 The Council recently produced an Issues and Options Paper and associated sustainability 

appraisal report regarding the provision of Travellers Sites in the county for consultation.  
The consultation process period took place between 21 August 2014 and 2 October 2014.  
The Issues and Options Paper asks a number of questions on the way in which sites for 
traveller accommodation can be found in the county and included an opportunity for sites to 
be suggested. 

 
 Principle of Development and Location 
 
6.13 The first issue which must be considered is whether the applicant falls within the definition of a 

‘Gypsy or Traveller’ as detailed in Annex 1 of PPTS and thus benefits from the exceptional 
circumstances provided in HUDP policies H7(6) and H12 for allowing development in the open 
countryside.  Annex 1 of the PPTS states that for the purposes of planning policy ‘Gypsies or 
Travellers’ means: 

 
“Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who on 
grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ educational or health needs or old 
age have ceased to travel temporarily or permanently, but excluding members of an organised 
group of travelling showpeople or circus people travelling together as such.” 

 
6.14 The Government’s consultation: planning and travellers (September 2014) seeks views on the 

revisions of national planning policy for travellers.  The ten week consultation period expired 
on 23 November 2014.  This includes consultation on the whether there should be an 
amendment of the planning definition of travellers to exclude those who have ceased to travel 
permanently.  The consultation also seeks views on revision to the weight that should be 
afforded to a lack of 5 year supply of sites, amongst other matters.  The consultation does 
however state that the Government remains committed to increasing the level of authorised 
provision in appropriate locations.  It has been suggested that the revisions to the definitions 
could violate the European Convention on Human Rights in respect of the protection of 
national minorities and therefore is likely to be challenged.  On this basis and given that the 
document is at consultation stage it is considered to have no weight. 

 

54



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

6.15 It is asserted that the applicant has previously led a nomadic lifestyle and settled in 2000 due 
to the educational needs of her children who were young at that time.  The submitted 
information, in both this application and the withdrawn scheme, states that the applicant was 
born in a caravan and into a Traveller family, then occupying a pitch on a Traveller site in 
Cardiff.  Subsequently, the applicant, along with her mother and grandparents occupied 
unauthorised and authorised sites.  These included a site at the top of the Callow before it 
closed in 1987, roadside sites at Ewyas Harold and Burley Gate and the Council owned site at 
Madley around 1994/1995.  Following the closure of the Madley site the applicant states that 
she moved with her family from farm to farm seeking work, until lastly settling in a bungalow 
near Pontypool when the work ran out and when the children were small.  The applicant 
considered it necessary to temporarily cease travelling for her dependant children’s 
educational needs.   Links are drawn to her grandparents being gypsies, family members living 
on private and Council run sites and her work, as a teenager with the Herefordshire Travellers 
Support Group on various projects including the production of a video about travelling life. 

 
6.16 On the basis of the submitted information and in the absence of any contradictory evidence, it 

is considered that the applicant meets the definition of a Gypsy, as she ceased travelling 
temporarily due to her families’ educational needs.  Although the applicant is not currently 
local, she does have local connections. Nevertheless, as stated in the PPTS at paragraph 
22(e) applications should be determined from any travellers, whether or not they have local 
connections. 

 
6.17 The requirement to be within reasonable distance of local services and facilities is set out 

within HUDP Policy S1 which seeks to reduce the need to travel, or to enable people to move 
safely by modes other than the private car.  Furthermore Policy DR2 encourages development 
to be located to provide a choice of travel modes, and Policy DR4 supports good links to public 
transport.  HUDP policy H12 does not provide a definition for ‘reasonable distance’, but in the 
preamble to the policy it states sites should have access to facilities and services and 
acknowledges that such proposals are an exception to the normal presumption against 
development in the open countryside. 

 
6.18 The site is located in open countryside, outside of any defined village or within walking 

distance of any shops, schools or facilities.  The nearest ‘local facilities’ can be found at the 
neighbourhood shopping centre on the Holme Lacy Road at Putson, some 2.9 kilometres (1.8 
miles) from the site, accessed via the unclassified road and the Hoarwithy Road (C1261).  
More extensive services and facilities such as health care provision, schools and larger 
convenience stores are available to the south of Hereford City, approximately 4.4 kilometres 
(2.7 miles) from the site.  There is a bus stop some 0.8 kilometres from the site, where 
services provide 4 to 5 trips per day to Hereford.  The lane is a rather hostile environment for 
pedestrians, due to its width, lack of footway and unlit nature.  However, this is not untypical in 
such locations and as the lanes are not heavily trafficked this would be likely to lessen the 
effect of these inhibiting factors.  With regards cycling, these distances and road conditions are 
likely to be acceptable.  Given that policy H7(6) of the HUDP makes an exception to the 
normal presumption against development outside of settlements for traveller sites and thus in 
locations that are less sustainable than settlements, it is considered that the site is a 
reasonable distance from services and facilities, with scope to access these by means other 
than private motorised vehicles.  Reference has been made in some of the objections to the 
relatively recently dismissed appeal for a dwelling in the area.  This concluded that the site 
was not sustainably located for the purposes of the NPPF.  This decision can be distinguished 
from this application as it was for a permanent dwelling, and did not accord with any of the 
specified exceptions to policy H7 of the UDP which restricts residential development outside of 
settlements.  The social role of sustainability that applies to this proposal, specifically the 
facilitation of the traditional and nomadic way of life of travellers, should be afforded weight 
and can be regarded as counter balancing against the connectivity of the site.  
Notwithstanding this, the nearest facilities are on the outskirts of Hereford and within the city 
itself and therefore offer the largest extent, range and concentration of services and facilities in 

55



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

the County.  As a result there is a greater likelihood of linked trips, which would reduce the 
number of likely journeys to and from the site. 

 
6.19 The site is considered to be small within the meaning of HUDP policy H12, as it is for a single, 

extended family to be accommodated in a static and touring caravan.  The preamble to the 
policy quantifies small sites as up to 5 or 6 caravans for individual or extended families 
(5.2.24).  The submitted scheme indicates adequate amenity space would be provided, 
including a possible play area next to the static caravan.  Objections have been raised 
questioning if the play area is safe as required by criterion 4 of policy H12 of the HUDP.  The 
play area is within the application site near to the static caravan and effectively forms part of 
the garden.  On this basis it is considered to be inherently safe, similarly to any area set aside 
for play in a domestic garden. 

 
6.20 The site is considered to be greenfield and has been previously used for agriculture and as a 

small holding.  Objections have been made to the loss of agricultural land and policy E15 of 
the HUDP quoted to support this point of view.  There is a demonstrated and over riding need 
for traveller sites and the quality and size of the land mean that it is not considered to be the 
best or most versatile agricultural land.  Consequently, the proposed use is acceptable and 
does not conflict with the requirements of the policy E15 of the HUDP.  In any event the NPPF 
does not set out any requirement to retain agricultural land per se for food security.  At appeal 
(APP/U1105/A/13/2191905) an Inspector concluded that this matter was not one that could 
weigh against the proposed development. 

 
 Visual Impact/Site Design 

 
6.21 The landscape is classified as ‘forest small holdings and dwellings’ in the Council’s Landscape 

Characterisation Assessment SPG (produced in 2004 and updated in 2009).  This states that 
this classification comprises ‘intimate, densely settled landscapes characterised by strings of 
wayside cottages and associated smallholdings.  They nestle within a complex matrix of 
pastoral fields and narrow lanes, often defined by prominent dense hedges with hedgerow 
trees. The consistency of human activity in these distinctive, small scale landscapes has 
resulted in a unified, palpably domestic character.’  And also ‘The settlement pattern has 
developed in a random, opportunistic manner, the corresponding density, scale and ad hoc 
pattern of both dwellings and lanes being distinctive characteristics today’.  The site and 
surrounding area fall within a registered historic park and garden (Foxley – which lies to the 
northwest of Mansel Lacy).  This extends across a large area of the County.  As the site is 
relatively small in size to this registered land and there is permanent residential development 
on the opposite side of the lane, the proposal would not adversely affect the registered park 
and garden. 

 
6.22 There is relatively tight knit, ribbon residential development fronting and in close proximity to 

the lane to the northeast of the site.  This is predominantly single storey in nature.  On the 
same side of the lane as the application site there is a dwelling to the northeast, with 
intervening agricultural land, and a cottage to the southwest with the applicant’s land that is 
excluded from this proposal between.  Due to the natural topography and existing vegetation 
there are not significant medium or long range views of the site.  The most obvious views of 
the site would be from the lane itself.  From these vantage points the static caravan, due to its 
siting parallel and adjacent to the northeastern boundary hedgerow would not be obtrusive.  
The touring caravan would be orientated so that the long elevation faced the road, but it would 
be set back some 31 metres from the lane.  The existing and proposed planting would filter 
views both from the lane and from nearby properties, thereby further mitigating the 
development proposed.  In its context, it is considered that the proposal would be satisfactorily 
assimilated and would not represent a significant incursion in the landscape.  In addition given 
the distance between the site and the nearby dwellings and the existing boundary hedgerow 
the proposal would not give rise to overlooking or loss of privacy. 

 

56



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

6.23 The ‘Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Good Practice Guide’ states that as a general guide 
an average family pitch should be capable of accommodating a static caravan and touring 
caravan, an amenity building, parking spaces for two vehicles, and a small garden area.  The 
application proposes a static caravan and tourer, but in fact it could accommodate more.  It is 
considered necessary to control the number of caravans and the area upon which they can be 
sited to ensure that the proposal would not become out of scale and have a dominating impact 
upon the settled community.  This would enable any future application for additional caravans 
or facilities to be assessed on its own merits.  Close boarded gates are proposed to the 
entrance together with fencing to the rear of the visibility splay and site perimeters, behind the 
existing hedgerows.  It is considered that this hard landscaping would appear to isolate the site 
from its surroundings and the settled community, and would also be out of context with the 
existing residential development in the area and the more open character of this side of the 
lane.  Similarly the surfacing of the car parking area should be suitably controlled to ensure 
that it would be appropriate for this rural location and to prevent surface water run off onto the 
lane, particularly given its siting within the site.  These matters could be controlled by a 
suitably worded landscaping condition. 

 
  Other Issues 
 
6.24 The Transportation Manager has assessed the access as being acceptable in terms of 

visibility and the Council’s Ecologist has confirmed that the proposal would not be harmful to 
protected species and from the analysis of the grassland it is not of high agricultural quality. 

 
6.25 A septic tank was originally proposed to provide means of foul drainage from the site.  Policy 

CF2 of the HUDP ranks the order of preference for foul drainage methods.  In the absence of 
a mains connection being a feasible option a second priority is the use of a package sewerage 
treatment plant, with a septic tank as the third option.  This sequential approach should be 
based on the feasibility of alternative arrangements including their cost and/or practicability.  
Having bought this matter to the applicant’s attention, it has been confirmed that although 
septic tanks have previously been the preferred option due to cost and understanding, 
following further research a sewerage treatment plan is the preferred option.  The 
Environmental Health Officer has advised that a site licence would be required for the proposal 
and satisfactory foul drainage arrangements would be needed.  On this basis a condition 
requiring the submission of details is considered reasonable. 

 
  Conclusion 
 
6.26 In terms of the overriding principle of the NPPF, to achieve sustainable development, it is 

considered that the proposal would provide significant social benefits through the delivery of a 
private Gypsy/Traveller site, which due to its size relative to the local settled community would 
enable and promote the facilitation of social interaction and creation of a healthy, inclusive 
community.  Furthermore, due to the site’s location the proposal would also offer some 
economic benefits due to the accessibility for occupants of the site to attend local further 
education facilities and local employment, thus contributing to the local economy.  Turning to 
the environmental dimension of sustainable development it is considered that due to the size 
of the site and density and scale of the proposal it would not have a materially adverse impact 
upon the landscape, such that the identified significant social benefit would be outweighed.  
Through the implementation of a satisfactory landscaping scheme, as required by condition, 
the existing hedgerows would be supplemented and appropriate additional planting carried 
out, thus enhancing biodiversity on the site. 

 
6.27 Having regard to the requirements of the relevant HUDP policies, together with the aims of the 

NPPF and the PPTS, and giving weight to the Council’s shortfall in the provision of Gypsy and 
Traveller sites, the site’s location within reasonable distance of services and facilities and the 
lack of demonstrable harm to the landscape or amenities of the area, it is considered that the 
proposal is acceptable, subject to conditions.   

57



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

 
6.28 As the site is acceptable for the proposed use and not on the basis of the applicant’s personal 

circumstances, a personal condition is not warranted.  There is a need for such sites and 
provided that the occupation is restricted to Gypsies and Travellers, in accordance with the 
exception for permitting such sites contrary to the normal restriction in the countryside, the 
occupation will be appropriately limited.  Bearing in mind the ongoing uncertainty of the 
likelihood of the unmet need for Gypsy and Traveller sites being met it would be unreasonable 
to grant a temporary permission. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions: 
 
 
1. A01 Time limit for commencement (full permission) 

 
2. B01 Development in accordance with the approved plans 

 
3. G02 Retention of trees and hedgerows 

 
4. G10 Landscaping scheme (Amended to include: Notwithstanding the details of soft 

and hard landscaping (fencing and gates) on the approved site plan & access 
parking and turning area consolidations surfacing and drainage) 
 

5. G11 Landscaping scheme – implementation 
 

6. The site shall not be occupied by any person other than gypsies and travellers as 
defined in DCLG Planning Policy for Travellers. 
 
Reason: To accord with the requirements of Policy H7(6) of the Herefordshire 
Unitary Development Plan and the Planning Policy for traveller sites (DCLG – March 
2012). 
 

7. The permission hereby approved is for no more than one pitch on the site for the 
permanent siting of no more than one static caravan and one touring caravan on 
the land.  The caravans are restricted to the definition and size as set out in the 
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 and Caravan Sites Act 1968 
and any subsequent Acts or amendments superseding that legislation with or 
without modification. 
 
Reason: In order to define the terms of the permission and safeguard the landscape 
character of the area in accordance with the requirements of Paragraph 26 of the 
DCLG Planning Policy for Travellers and policies DR1 and LA2 of the Herefordshire 
Unitary Development Plan. 
 

8. I18 Scheme of foul drainage disposal 
 

Informatives: 
 
1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 

this application by assessing the proposal against planning policy and any other 
material considerations, including the representations received.  Amendments have 
been made to the proposal in respect of matters of concern identified in the 
previous application.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to 
grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with relevant 
saved local planning policies and the principles set out within the National Planning 

58



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

Policy Framework and the CLG’s Planning policy for traveller sites. 
 

2. HN05 Works within the highway 
 

 
 
 
Decision:  ..............................................................................................................................................  
 
Notes:  ..................................................................................................................................................  
 
 ..............................................................................................................................................................  
 
Background Papers 
 
Internal departmental consultation replies. 

59



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536 
PF2 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made. 
  
APPLICATION NO:  141687/F   
 
SITE ADDRESS :  MID SUMMER ORCHARD, (LAND AT OAKLEY COTTAGE), RIDGE HILL, 
HEREFORDSHIRE, HR2 8AG 
 
Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.   Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Herefordshire Council.  Licence No: 100024168/2005 

 

60


	Agenda
	PublicInformationfireinfo oct 14
	4 P141408/F Barley Close, Woodseaves Road, Eardisley, Herefordshire
	5 P141687/F Mid Summer Orchard, (Land at Oakley Cottage), Ridge Hill, Herefordshire, HR2 8AG

